


Offices at:

Whakatane: 5 Quay Street
Whakatane

Rotorua: 1125 Arawa Street
Rotorua

Tauranga: 6 Rata Street
Mount Maunganui

Depots at:

Edgecumbe: Ngaio Place
Edgecumbe

Opotiki: Church Street
Opotiki

Contact us:

Phone Toll Free: 0800 ENV BOP
0800 368 267

Fax Free: 0800 ENV FAX
0800 368 329

Email: info@envbop.govt.nz

Web Site: www.envbop.govt.nz

Postal Address: P O Box 364
Whakatane



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Environment Bay of Plenty 
The Bay of Plenty Regional Council 

 
 
 

Annual Report and 
 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements Environment Bay of Plenty 
 

Q:\MAS\FCS\ANNUALREPORT\ANNREPORT2002 

 
 

Contents 
 
 

Chairman’s Foreword.............................................................................................................1 

Chief Executive’s Report........................................................................................................3 

Report on Long Term Financial Strategy and Policies ........................................................19 

Statement of Compliance and Responsibility ......................................................................22 

Report of the Auditor General..............................................................................................23 

Introduction to Statements of Service Performance............................................................25 

Community Initiatives...........................................................................................................64 

Consolidated Financial Statements .....................................................................................65 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance .............................................................66 

Consolidated Statement of Movements in Equity................................................................67 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position .....................................................................68 

Statement of Financial Involvement in LATEs and Other Companies or Organisations ....70 

Notes to the Accounts for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 ...................................................71 

Equal Employment Opportunities Statement.......................................................................90 

 

 
 





Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
2001/2002 

1 
 

Chairman’s Foreword 
 
This is the twelfth Annual Report of Environment Bay of Plenty. 
 
This report presents a comprehensive review into the activities of 
Environment Bay of Plenty and our very robust programmes for caring for 
our environment during a period of high population increases in our region. 
 
The detailed reports on all activities are contained in the Report by our 
Chief Executive which follows this foreword. 
 
While expenditure increased from $20.2M last year to $24.4M (an increase 
of 20%) rates actually decreased marginally. We have been able to hold 
the rates due to the very excellent returns from our investment in the Port 
of Tauranga Limited. The Regional Council is then following its policy of 
utilising the Port investment return to reduce the impact of rates while producing a long list of completed 
capital projects to meet the needs of citizens who live in our region. 
 
The Council has been enthused by the success of trial into public passenger transport in the Tauranga area 
through the yellow “Bay Hopper” buses and plans are well under way to implement the Eastern Bay of Plenty 
service and to seek improvements in Rotorua. 
 
From time to time, the call for further reviews and rationalisation of local Government raises its head with 
views of amalgamations on the supposed grounds of further efficiencies. Within the Bay of Plenty, I feel that 
we are on the correct path in consultation with the Territorial Councils in the region and the Regional Council 
working together for our constituents.  I acknowledge the support and co-operation of all the Territorial 
Mayors. 
 
Within this current year, all eyes are on the Bill – the new Local Government Act.  It is likely that by this time 
next year, we will be working under a new Local Government Act. This new Act has been a long time 
coming, its central provision the “power of general competence” has been under discussion since the late 
1980’s. While this Act may allow Regional Councils the power to undertake additional activities and 
programmes, I suggest that Regional Councils like ourselves are unlikely to take on activities that are more 
properly the role of territorial Councils and that the role of Regional Councils is more in Environment 
Management. In any case, the legislative consultative process of the Councils working together will benefit 
us all. 
 
I acknowledge the support that I have had from my fellow Councillors in the past year.  In my view, this is a 
very good group of Councillors and they are providing excellent governance in our Bay of Plenty Region over 
those matters that we are charged to manage. 
 
Our Councillors are very ably assisted by the Chief Executive, Jeff Jones, and staff who have provided 
excellent policy advice and I particularly wish to thank Jeff who has been a great help to me in this my first 
term as Chairman of this Council. 
 

 
 
John Cronin 
Chairman 
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Chief Executive’s Report 

The year ending 30 June 2002 was an extremely eventful year for 
Environment Bay of Plenty. I set out below a summary report on those 
events some of which were quite special and others, while more routine, 
continued the achievements of Environment Bay of Plenty in meeting our 
mission statement of “working with our communities”. 
 
Environment Bay of Plenty as an organisation achieves by a synergistic 
operation of the two levels in the organisation, the governance level 
consisting of our formerly eleven, now twelve regional councillors, and the 
Chief Executive and his staff. This year saw the fifth election for those 
councillors, the representatives of the Bay of Plenty community. That 
election in October 2001 was overseen successfully by staff and enabled the people in the Bay of Plenty 
community to choose, from those who offered themselves in the four separate constituencies, who they 
wished to have represent them for the next three years.   
 
For this triennium the extra councillor is a result of the previous Council determining as it is statutorily entitled 
to do so, that there needed to be an increase in representation from the Tauranga constituency which now 
has four councillors. It is notable that three of our councillors chose not to seek re-election. They were the 
former Chairman, John Keaney, the former Deputy Chairperson, Jacqui Hughes, and Councillor Jenny 
Seddon. The net result of the elections was that we had five new councillors, indicating that only one 
councillor was defeated. That indicates a fairly clear acceptance from the electorate of the Bay of Plenty that 
the lead which Environment Bay of Plenty has given to its community and indeed the directions followed 
itself, met with their satisfaction. Of the five new councillors, three had no previous local government 
councillor experience and the other two had been former councillors of local authorities in the Bay of Plenty. 
As with any new “Board of Directors”, there is a period of learning - not only about the way things are done 
but the corporate history of the organisation including its current policies. 
 
I am very pleased to report that the Council seems to have come together very well and very quickly and is 
now addressing, with the benefit of the new blood, the many issues that are reported below and which 
continue to be matters demanding the attention of Environment Bay of Plenty. 
 
In line with our changed philosophy as represented by our new mission statement, we continue to work with 
our community notably through our Environmental Enhancement Fund, a fund which has only been in 
existence for two years. This year, building on to a very successful first year, the Council made $1.25m 
available, more than a 300% increase, and at the same time, the fund was divided into two discreet sections: 
$750,000 available to District Councils in the Bay of Plenty region and $500,000 available to community 
groups. The guidelines were reviewed, applications sought, and after an exhaustive screening and 
prioritisation, those who were successful on a priority basis were awarded funds and a great deal of 
environmental enhancement, some small some larger, throughout the Bay of Plenty, has occurred. The 
success of this programme will be reported separately. 
 
The Rotorua Lakes Strategy, having been adopted requires all the agencies involved to work on the various 
projects which are set out in that strategy. One of the most significant is the development of a co-
management model resolving just how the two local authorities, Rotorua District Council and Environment 
Bay of Plenty and tangata whenua are going to work together in the future to ensure that there is 
established, and remains, a high level strategic overview of the issues related to the Rotorua Lakes.   
 
Generally speaking, good progress was made with the establishment of this co-management model although 
final agreement as to representation seems to be somewhat elusive. While this is disappointing, it is no 
doubt influenced as far as tangata whenua are concerned by issues which they are negotiating directly with 
central government in terms of the treaty claim on the Rotorua Lakes. 
 
As part of bringing a stronger focus to Lakes Management, Environment Bay of Plenty has endowed a Chair 
in Lake Management and Restoration at the University of Waikato. Professor David Hamilton has taken up 
the position as of 1 July 2002. 
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The SmartGrowth project, a project jointly being undertaken by the Western Bay of Plenty District Council, 
Tauranga District Council and Environment Bay of Plenty with the full cooperation of iwi in the western Bay 
of Plenty does, however, continue to make excellent progress under the management of the Project 
Manager, Ken Tremaine. By the end of this reporting year, the very vital data collection phase was almost 
completed. That completion was essential to enable the governance group of SmartGrowth to know just 
what they were dealing with so that the decision making could start in terms of developing an appropriate 
strategy to deal with the continued level of growth in that part of our region. 
 
This Council has been promoting the establishment of a separate constituency for Maori on The Bay of 
Plenty Regional Council. What was promoted mirrored the situation that existed at central government with 
Maori seats and indeed the system for determining the number of members of the Maori Constituency was 
on a similar basis. The Council noted with satisfaction that the Bill was, in the end, enacted notwithstanding 
the widespread opposition from some sectors of the community, regrettably, including all the district councils 
in the Bay of Plenty. 
 
The Bill is now law. Unfortunately it was not law in time for its implementation for the 2001 Elections but it will 
be given effect to in the 2004 elections where there will be a Maori Constituency consisting of two members. 
 
At the beginning of this year, the Chief Executive implemented a new management structure within the 
organisation to provide a more strategic focus to the staff organisation which not only provides advice to the 
elected members of the Council, on policy matters, but also implements Council policy decisions. The Chief 
Executive now has a strategic management team consisting of himself and seven direct reports these being 
the Deputy Chief Executive who has, among other things, special responsibility for the major investments of 
Environment Bay of Plenty, and Group Managers for Regulation & Resource Management, Strategic Policy, 
Operational Services, Finance, Community Relations, and HR & Corporate Services. 
 
One of the benefits of the new staff structure was to flatten out the top level with more direct reporting to the 
Chief Executive. The new structure is working effectively with clearer and more direct delegation of 
responsibilities and accountabilities for the various functions under those headings. 
 
As a result of the restructuring at the executive level, other changes occurred within the staff structure and, in 
particular, the rule makers and the rule implementers have been brought closer together to provide a more 
direct link between those two vital aspects of our organisation.   
 
As a corollary to the structural change a major cultural review has occurred within the organisation assisted 
by independent consultants. This review which involved all of the staff at all levels examined the culture that 
had developed within the organisation over its first twelve years, analysed that culture, retained what was 
good, discarded that which was inappropriate and added to it the desired cultural aspects which consultative 
workshops of staff had identified. At the end of the reporting period the new culture was within two months of 
adoption. 
 
In the works area, the reasonably wet summer resulted in a pause to the spread and impact of the sawfly 
infestation which has been effecting our many kilometres of willow protection works on our river schemes. 
Regrettably, we are assured that this is only a pause and that until we find a solution to the problem, or an 
alternative species to do the work that the willows are doing now, it still remains a significant threat to the 
integrity of the river systems in the Bay of Plenty. 
 
On a more positive front, good progress is being made with the reconstruction works on both the Waioeka-
Otara and the Rangitaiki River Schemes with significant expenditure on stopbank raising having been 
incurred in this financial year. These works were required as a result of the indications as to the potential 
inadequacies obtained during the 1998 floods of some of these stopbanks. 
 
This year we have also moved towards a programme of minor stream improvements, particularly targeting 
the streams that drain the Kaimais into Tauranga Harbour. Most of these streams are in private ownership 
throughout much of their length and over the years, lack of general maintenance or, on some occasions, the 
inability of the landowners to undertake the level of maintenance required has meant that the efficiency of 
those stream channels has been significantly impaired in some places. Council agreed last year to fund the 
appointment of a staff member who would work on a cooperative basis with the land owners advising, 
cajoling, and on occasions funding some works in order to, over a period of time, work at getting these 
streams back into a well maintained condition with the clear responsibility for maintenance being left with the 
adjacent land owners on the long term. The pilot projects which we have undertaken to date seem to be 
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achieving the outcome desired from the points of view of both Environment Bay of Plenty and the 
landowners. 
 
Our Environment Education initiatives continue to be enhanced particularly now that the staff member 
concerned is back full time from maternity leave. The work that we are doing here in the Bay of Plenty has 
been recognised by the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment who attended a meeting organised 
by Environment Bay of Plenty and REEF (the Regional Environmental Education Foundation) who had their 
annual conference here in the Bay of Plenty this year. 
 
Resource Planning 
 
Resource Policy 
 
Submissions and comments were made on 64 plans, strategies and other documents prepared by other 
agencies. Under agreed protocols, Environment Bay of Plenty was sent a total of 305 copies of resource 
consent applications made by applicants to district councils during the financial year. After due consideration, 
Environment Bay of Plenty made submissions or comments on 214 of these. 
 
The Council examined possible roles for itself in regional economic development, commissioning and are 
considering a report, “The Potential Regional Council Role in the Promotion of Regional Development” 
(Gerard Willis Hill Young Cooper, February 2002).  While no new roles have yet been adopted, the Council is 
now better equipped to respond to the opportunities being presented by the review of local government 
culminating in the Local Government Bill.  Data from the 2001 census was obtained for the comprehensive 
five-yearly socio-economic profile to be prepared in 2002–2003. 
 
A number of unforeseen policy and planning related issues were considered by the Council.  These included:  
 
• an assessment of Environment Bay of Plenty’s activities in regard to wetland protection and 

maintenance,  

• reducing greenhouse gas emissions and adaptation to climate change,  

• commissioning an investigation of the region’s air transport requirements and regional airports, and  

• preliminary research into policy issues in regard to genetically modified organisms (to be examined in 
more detail in 2002–2003). 

Implementation of the operative Bay of Plenty Regional Policy Statement has proceeded, with further 
drafting of heritage criteria for inclusion in the statement.  Feedback from earlier drafts is being followed up 
and taken into account prior to the Council considering public notification of a formal change. 
 
Development of a regional heritage strategy has been foreshadowed with the preparation of a draft project 
plan, preliminary discussions with staff of constituent district councils and an analysis of heritage-related 
provisions in district plans. The importance of a heritage database in meeting a range of needs has been 
confirmed and development of it in a way that meets those needs is proceeding. 
 
In accordance with its interim policy on regional parks, Environment Bay of Plenty has contributed towards 
the purchase of a property for a future cultural heritage regional park. In this case, Environment Bay of 
Plenty’s support of Tauranga District Council and Western Bay of Plenty District Council has been for the 
purpose of protecting significant cultural heritage resources.   
 
Environment Bay of Plenty’s involvement with Rotorua District Council and Te Arawa Maori Trust Board in 
the Lakes Strategy has been focused on consideration of co-management options.  Strategy-related work 
has also been implemented through other lake and catchment projects. 
 
This year the focus of SmartGrowth, the joint sub-regional growth management study being undertaken by 
Environment Bay of Plenty and the Tauranga and Western Bay of Plenty District Councils, has been on 
information gathering. Environment Bay of Plenty has contributed from its body of knowledge, especially in 
regard to land and environmental management. 
 
As part of its information gathering for a regional management strategy for hazardous substances, waste and 
contaminated sites, Environment Bay of Plenty has participated in and led an inter-regional project for the 
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development and implementation of a methodology for surveying the types, quantities and disposal of 
hazardous waste in the Bay of Plenty and Waikato regions. A survey methodology has been developed and 
applied; results of the survey are being prepared for publication. A framework draft strategy has been the 
subject of staff-level consultation with constituent district councils. The Waste Exchange’s continued growth 
in the number of people using it has justified Environment Bay of Plenty’s support and promotion of it to 
district councils and businesses.    
 
Transport Planning 
 
Environment Bay of Plenty continued to carry out the functions and duties required by the Transit NZ Act, the 
Land Transport Act and the Transport Services Licensing Act. The 2002/2003 Regional Programme, the 
2002/2003 Safety (Administration) Programme and a report on progress in implementing the Bay of Plenty 
Regional Land Transport Strategy were prepared and approved. 
 
While work progressed steadily on reviewing the Regional Land Transport Strategy in 2001/2002, by the end 
of the financial year it had not reached the stage where a draft was ready for the consideration and approval 
by the Regional Land Transport Committee. However, a draft will now be placed before the Regional Land 
Transport Committee in September 2002 and then released for public comment. 
 
In 2001/2002, Council built on the start it had made in the previous year to significantly improve public 
transport across the region. Best estimates put the increase between 2000/2001 and 2001/2002 in 
passenger transport patronage for services funded by Environment Bay of Plenty in the region, at 85%. 
 
While much of the effort in this area was focussed on Tauranga bus services, 2002/2003 will see a wider 
focus on improving services from the eastern Bay of Plenty sub-region and in Rotorua. 
 
During the year the Council registered 460 new Total Mobility clients; it also registered eight new, or varied, 
public passenger transport services.  
 
Civil Defence 
 
Contrary to expectations, the government at the end of this last financial year had still not replaced the Civil 
Defence Act 1983. However, the uncertainty that this delay creates has not affected continuation of the 
regional civil defence function, in exactly the same way that the role has been undertaken since the 
formation of this council in 1989. 
 
Assistance this year was provided to both Rotorua and Tauranga district councils in their work on research 
into potential engineering lifeline hazards (‘Lifeline Studies’). A preliminary study was carried out on the 
potential tsunami threat to the region’s coastline. There was an indication from that study that more detailed 
research is required and this is now under way. Modest support is also being provided to selected tertiary 
students in studies relevant to this council’s natural hazard research functions. 
 
In other areas of the civil defence function the council’s activities have continued as required. Routine 
training of staff to undertake an emergency response role continues, with new staff being introduced to 
response teams as others depart. A regional response exercise in company with the territorial authorities 
was undertaken in November 2001. The regional civil defence plan was renewed during the year and has 
been formally approved by the Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency Management. Three district civil 
defence plans were considered and approved by the Regional Civil Defence Committee during the year. The 
committee has also given consideration to how the new provisions of the incoming Bill can be utilised to best 
effect for the population of this region. 
 
Maori Policy 
 
He nui nga take e pa ana ki a ngai tatau e te iwi mo te tau 2002 kua taha ake nei. Ara hoki he kaunihera hou 
tera kua pootitia mai nei i tenei tau, kotahi te mema Maori i whakahokia mai, kotahi atu ano tera i hinga atu. 
Koia nei hoki te pootitanga whakamutunga e kore ai he turanga Maori ki tenei kaunihera. 
 
Ko te kaupapa whakahaere kua whakaaetia e te kaunihera, kai nga wa e tika ana, me ta tuhi nga korero ki te 
reo Maori, e tapiritia atu ai hoki he whakamarama ki te reo Ingarihi. Koia nei e puta atu ai enei 
whakamarama ki to tatau reo me ona tikanga. 
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Ko nga Komiti Maori tokotoru ki te kaunihera, e kaha ana ki te wananga i nga ahua take katoa ka tau mai ki 
o ratau aroaro. He mahi uaua, otira ko nga iwi anake e kaha ana ki te kokiri i era ahuatanga, kihai e oti i a te 
kaunihera anake. Na reira me ngatahi nga whakaaro me nga mahi, kihai he korero ke atu. 
 
No te tau kua taha ake nei ka karangatia e te kaunihera te hui noho marae tuatahi ki tera marae ko Te 
Maungarongo ki Ohope. He hui whakamiharo rawa atu, e noho tahi ai nga mema o nga komiti Maori me nga 
mema o te kaunihera, e ai ki tera korero “He herenga waka, he whitiwhiti whakaaro, he whitiwhiti korero”  
 
Ko te mahi kai mua i nga Komiti ko te whakahou ake i to tatau Marautanga, e kotahi, e orite ai nga whakaaro 
a nga Komiti ki nga whakaaro a te kaunihera. Otira ka panuitia enei ahuatanga ki te iwi i mua ano i te 
whakatatutanga. 
 
Heoi, e mihi miharo ana te kaunihera ki nga mema katoa kei o tatau Komiti. 
 
Much business of significance to iwi of our region was conducted during the 2002 year. New elections held in 
2001 saw one sitting Maori member re-elected and while another was unsuccessful. This was to be the last 
election without a Maori constituency. 
 
Council policy provides that whenever appropriate, releases by council will be in the Maori language, with an 
accompanying English translation. Hence this sector of the report appears in the Maori language. 
 
All three Maori liaison committees have dealt efficiently with all issues placed before them. The assignments 
can be onerous, and council acknowledges that it cannot be done unilaterally. Rather it requires the full and 
friendly cooperation of iwi and council combined. 
 
The year also experienced the inaugural convening of a marae live-in for elected councillors and iwi 
representatives, held at Te Muangarongo marae, Ohope. Meeting was an unqualified success with 
councillors and iwi members working closely together, within the spirit of the aphorism, “Wherever canoes 
are beached, thoughts and dialogue are exchanged.” 
 
A task currently before the committees is the revision of our Charter, to harmonise the thoughts and 
aspirations of both iwi and council. This document will be widely circulated prior to finalisation. 
 
Council records our appreciation for contributions made by all iwi spokespersons during the year. 
 
 
Regulation & Resource Management 
 
Consents 
 
There has been ongoing criticism of the Resource Management Act by various sectors of the community, 
particularly the concern over delays caused in development. As a result of this, the Ministry for the 
Environment has been producing an Annual Performance Audit of Regional Councils in their consent 
processing which has highlighted areas where improvement can be made. At the same time the Regional 
Chief Executives throughout New Zealand put in place a programme to develop even stricter performance 
criteria called Agreed Best Practice (ABP).  
 
Over this last year Environment Bay of Plenty has processed a total of 766 Resource Consent Applications 
(including changes and withdrawals) which is a record for Council. The majority of applications are for 
discharges of various types and also land use activity, predominantly major earthworks and culverts. In 
terms of the Annual Plan performance target for consents received during the 2001/2002 annual plan period, 
98% of all non-notified applications were processed within timeframes. This is a 20% improvement on the 
previous year. This achievement is important when one considers that approximately 90% of the applications 
processed in the year were non-notified. 
 
When measured against ABP, where the time clock is not reset, which is allowed under the Resource 
Management Act, the timeframe percentage reduces to 82%. As ABP was only introduced in this last year 
and has taken much development to implement an increased level of performance is expected in the coming 
year. 
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The utilisation of contract consent processors has continued to be very successful in ensuring peak 
workloads are properly managed. It also allows a better working relationship to be established between 
many of the consultants who may act for clients, but who will also process consents for Environment Bay of 
Plenty. 
 
Separate to the timeframe reporting, regional councils also have an audit group which assesses the quality 
of consents and the audit for the last year placed Environment Bay of Plenty in the top quarter of all 
regional/unitary councils. This was a very pleasing result for Environment Bay of Plenty and is important in 
ensuring that while meeting the more stricter time lines, the quality of the consents is not reduced. 
 
Appeals to the Environment Court on application decisions has continued to absorb a significant amount of 
Council resource, but it is pleasing to note that not one of Council’s decisions have been overturned which is 
an independent assessment of the quality of Council’s hearing process. While Environment Bay of Plenty 
uses all endeavours to settle appeals and where possible avoid such appeals there are times when the best 
action is to take the matter to the Environment Court for an independent decision to be made. 
 
Compliance Monitoring 
 
Environment Bay of Plenty’s compliance monitoring role continues to be a major role for Council. A total of 
1,325 complaints were received in the last year with nearly 800 dealing with air complaint issues. The 
majority of air complaint concerns revolve around spray issues and smokey fires and while Council puts 
major effort into education to try and reduce these complaints, enforcement is also necessary in many 
instances. 
 
The other complaints ranged from dead animals in waterways to various unauthorised discharges, and some 
of these have resulted in legal action before the courts over the last year. Approximately 5% of all complaints 
received were classified as urgent which requires staff to deal with them within 24 hours, however an 
incident such as a spill would be responded to immediately. A total of 15 compliance reports were presented 
over the year covering issues from minor dams, medium and large air discharges, sewerage discharges, 
farm dairy effluent discharges, marine agriculture and the major earthworks associated with the route PJK 
Project in Tauranga. This monitoring is essential to ensure that consent holders meet their contract (consent) 
with the community. 
 
As noted, education forms an important part of the compliance area, and a number of field days and public 
meetings were organised to discuss various aspects with sector groups. These have included the dairy 
effluent area and spray area. 
 
Plan Implementation 
 
During the last year the Certification and Inspection Programme for the On-site Effluent Treatment Plan has 
continued with the majority of the first round inspections now being completed. A most satisfying result has 
been the reticulation of the Waihi Beach, Athenree, Pio Shores area of the region which was one of the 
identified contaminated areas where inspections were undertaken. From the inspection programme and 
following an audit by Ian Gunn of Auckland University, a number of other locations have had increased 
monitoring put in place and in some instances other areas will now be removed from the inspection system. 
 
As a result of the audit by Ian Gunn, further monitoring is being undertaken and in the next plan review 
additional areas will be included for the inspection regime. Letters have also been forwarded to all property 
owners noting the due date for the second round of inspection. 
 
The ongoing agrichemical collection programme has continued to work well with approximately 8,000kg of 
unwanted chemicals being collected over the last year. These chemicals are then either re-allocated for use 
by appropriately qualified peopleor neutralised where possible in New Zealand with the remaining intractable 
chemicals being sent for destruction in appropriately authorised overseas facilities. The reality is that New 
Zealand does not have sufficient stocks of waste material to enable the economic establishment of an 
appropriate destruction facility. 
 
Ongoing monitoring in the Rotorua geothermal field has shown the recovery to generally have stabilised with 
minor variations occurring dependant on climatic changes. No significant activity was noted over the last 
year. One issue of concern to Council was the loss of an important monitoring bore and capital expenditure 
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was made available to drill a replacement bore. Planning for this job has been delayed due to site 
constraints, but is hopefully to be completed early in the 2002/2003 year.   
 
Regional Monitoring 
 
Monitoring of the state of the environment is an essential component of Council being able to assess what 
actions may need to be taken to ensure the quality of our environment is maintained and where appropriate, 
enhanced. 
 
During the year staff reported on various components of the monitoring programme, including an update on 
the Rotorua geothermal field, a survey of the community’s perceptions to changes in the Rotorua geothermal 
field, an update on air monitoring in the region, Rotorua lakes water quality and an overview report on 
specific impacts of discharges into the wider environment. 
 
One important report dealt with the status of Lake Rerewhakaaitu resulting from declining water quality 
trends raising concerns for the overall health of the lake. Fortunately, since the original work was done, the 
lake has again stabilised, however ongoing work is being undertaken with the community to assess what 
actions can be taken to reduce the nutrient loads into that lake. Lake Rerewhakaaitu as a shallow lake could 
easily decline in quality to reflect the type of problems that are experienced in Lake Rotoehu. 
 
A number of reports were also completed determining the in-stream minimum flow requirements to maintain 
ecological health and in some catchments there is clearly an over-allocation problem and policy will need to 
be developed to address this matter. 
 
A selection of general field monitoring equipment was replaced or upgraded during the year with a focus on 
upgrades to a number of flood warning radio telephones and data loggers. Many of these sites had twenty 
year old technology where service and repair was no longer a financial option. The flood monitoring system 
performed well during the year with an excess of 90% of all sites operational at any one time. Some damage 
to sites still occurs due to vandalism, however public awareness of this does appear to reduce such 
incidents. 
 
Overall, the environmental data collection rate for the electronic monitoring stations throughout the region 
achieved in excess of 96.9% of data with 100% being achieved at 42 of the 70 sites. 
 
Navigation Safety and Oil Pollution Responsibilities 
 
Unsettled weather over the summer vacation period resulted in less patrols having to be undertaken than 
was anticipated. A total of 30 staff patrols were undertaken in Tauranga Harbour with further patrols being 
undertaken on Ohiwa Harbour. Due to the confined nature of Ohiwa Harbour, often the patrolling can be 
based around talking to people at the boat ramps and ensuring they are aware of the water recreation 
bylaws and also what areas can be used for what activities. 
 
There were no major oil spills noted during the last year, although minor spills were reported and 
investigated by Maritime staff who are available 24 hours a day. The Tier II Response Plan was updated and 
appropriate training exercises were held throughout the year. 
 
The maintenance of the mooring register is one area requiring ongoing work as complaints over people 
using others moorings is a regular occurrence. The requirement for mooring owners to have their mooring 
inspected every two years by an approved certifier has also been successful with 98% compliance being 
achieved in the last year. For those who do not comply, their boat is removed as they are considered to be a 
hazard to those people who have met the appropriate requirements. 
 
An updated transfer of power to Rotorua District Council was also implemented in the last year for navigation 
and safety on the lakes within the Rotorua District. Environment Bay of Plenty also implemented a 
performance contract with the District Council as all navigation and safety throughout the entire region is now 
fully funded by Environment Bay of Plenty. 
 
Environmental Planning 
 
Over the last year appeals on the Regional Land Management Plan and Regional River Gravel Plan were 
settled and as a result both plans are now operative. Appeals are still outstanding on the Regional Coastal 
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Environment Plan and the Regional Plan for the Tarawera River and Air Plan, however appeals on the first 
two are expected to be settled without the need to go to the Environment Court. It is expected that the Air 
Plan may well need debate before the Environment Court on one issue. 
 
The release of the proposed Regional Water and Land Plan was seen as being a momentous occasion for 
Environment Bay of Plenty. This document sets out major policy for managing land and water resources in 
the region and has had to deal with some very difficult environmental issues such as nutrients in the lakes 
and water allocation. 
 
The Transitional Regional Plan was also reviewed and a change to the On-site Effluent Treatment Plan was 
initiated with a decision to be released soon after this annual reporting period. 
 
As a result of the restructuring undertaken, the Environmental Planning Section now forms part of the wider 
Regulation and Resource Management Group. This has enabled the consent officers and planners to work 
more closely in module teams which was seen as one way to ensure better rule making. 
 
This section is also responsible for co-ordinating comments on district council consent applications and as 
part of this, a number of new protocols have been developed over the last year. A review has shown that the 
district councils wished to receive more specific comments on those matters specifically for which the 
Regional Council is responsible and this has been focussed on over the last year. 
 
 
Operational Services 
 
Plant Pest Management 
 
Council policy for the control of plant pests is clearly defined in the Plant Pest Management Strategy for the 
Bay of Plenty Region (1998). 
 
Regional Pest Management Strategies (RPMS’s) are required to be reviewed five yearly. Environment Bay 
of Plenty has completed the first stage of the review process by completing a Draft RPMS Discussion 
Document. Pest management staff have made a substantial contribution to the Discussion Document. 
Following a consultative process the reviewed Strategy is scheduled for adoption on 1 July 2003. 
 
Notifiable plant pests (Johnson grass, Cape tulip, salvinia and water hyacinth) continue to be managed by 
Environment Bay of Plenty under contract to MAF. Johnson grass has been regularly monitored at two sites 
in the Te Teko area. No plants were found in the 2001/2002 growing season.  In accordance with the 
Management Programme this resulted in the conditional release of one site and the unconditional release of 
the second. 
 
An infestation of salvinia was discovered in the Te Puke area and immediately controlled under the direction 
of plant pest staff. An incursion trace back procedure identified two further water hyacinth and salvinia sites. 
These two sites were in garden pond situations. The plants were collected and destroyed. 
 
Surveillance of the four high priority alligator weed sites were regularly undertaken. Plant pest staff or 
contractors undertook the control work and successfully contained and reduced infestations. Management 
objectives for the Total Control Plant Pests African feather grass, nodding thistle, Senegal tea, variegated 
thistle, white edged nightshade and yellow flag were achieved. Objectives for boneseed, ragwort, nodding 
and plumeless thistles were substantially achieved. Old man’s beard infestations were further reduced in the 
Tarawera area with the assistance of an Environmental Enhancement Fund (EEF) project. Wild ginger was 
subject to an intensive control programme over 150 properties in the Lake Rotoiti area. Although woolly 
nightshade remains persistent in northern forestry blocks and poorly managed land, an intensive programme 
of 2,416 inspections has further reduced densities and distribution. A further three hectare area of spartina 
was controlled, according to consent conditions, in Maketu estuary. 
 
Biological control programmes continue to make good progress.  Three new biological control agents were 
released in the region; one for mistflower (a gall fly) and two for gorse (the colonial hard shoot moth and a 
Spanish strain of gorse thrip). 
 
Ragwort and thistle biological control agents continue to reduce densities of these plants. 
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The control programme for wild kiwifruit continued. Funded by Zespri International Limited, HortResearch 
and Environment Bay of Plenty, the programme controlled wild kiwifruit at sites in the Te Puke, Katikati, 
Rotorua and Opotiki areas. Environment Bay of Plenty co-ordinated this programme and also commissioned 
a report, by Landcare Research, of the naturalisation and weed potential of kiwifruit in the Bay of Plenty 
region. 
 
Publicity and education initiatives continued with staff attendance at field days, A&P shows and Conservation 
Week activities. A plant pest staff member received a QEII Technicians Award scholarship to study 
community weed control initiatives in Australia. 
 
The National Pest Plant Accord was implemented in October 2001. The Accord specifies 94 plants 
prohibited from sale, propagation and distribution. Nurseries and garden retail outlets are regularly inspected 
by plant pest officers to ensure that the requirements of the Accord are met. 
 
Community based privet control programmes are successfully progressing in Te Puke and Tauranga. 
 
Finally, the plant pest component of the Land Resources Database continues to assist staff to record 
infestations and carry out reinspections in required timeframes. 
 
CoastCare 
 
The strong partnership between Environment Bay of Plenty, the participating district councils and the coastal 
communities continues to strengthen. The number of new community groups has increased by 50% over the 
last 12 months, resulting in a total of 25 groups now caring for the coast in the region. Again, tangata 
whenua in the eastern Bay of Plenty have led most of the new growth, with one new group also established 
at Maketu. This is by far the greatest saturation of any Beach/Coast care programme in NZ, with nearly all 
Bay of Plenty beach systems now having functional and active care groups. In addition, both Tauranga and 
Western Bay of Plenty District Councils have significantly increased their funding contributions, and for the 
first time, the Department of Conservation are now financial partners in the programme. These advances 
have largely occurred because the people involved recognise the practical and political benefits of the work 
being carried out by the large network of community volunteers throughout the entire region. 
 
A total of over 35,000 native front-dune plants are being utilised on the regions beaches this year. However, 
this number is likely to diminish in subsequent years, as some of our front-dunes are nearly fully planted and 
functioning again in a naturally protective manner.  
 
The new alliance with the Whakatane Surfcasting Club has resulted in their members helping to plant 3,000 
Spinifex and Pingao in one big day, to help repair damage caused by 4WD vehicles near the Whakatane 
Airport. Club members are now facing the harsh reality of attempting to prevent fresh 4WD damage to “their” 
new plants.  And so, significantly, these 4WD owners are taking charge of informing fellow fishers of the 
important role that native dune plants play, and how to protect them. 
 
Public education includes the now well-established and respected twice-yearly CoastCare Newsletter, sent 
to all volunteers and industry representatives on our new database, and the many news items about the 
project work of community volunteers. Additionally, many schools continue to play a very active part in the 
Coast Care BOP Programme, through school visits and practical planting projects. 
 
The BackYard Buffers project has been initiated successfully in Whakatane. The aim of this work is two-fold; 
 
i) to assist the restoration of occasionally rare native back-dune plants, and thereby increase the bio-

diversity of severely damaged coastal eco-systems. 
ii) to provide an attractive mechanism for district councils to control encroachments on dune reserve 

land. 
 
These aims are achieved by working in partnership with district councils and residents adjoining reserve 
land, so that these residents replace introduced plants with carefully selected native plants, under the 
direction of CoastCare. 
 
As part of their dredging consent, Port of Tauranga Ltd has recently deposited 100,000m3 of high quality 
harbour entrance sand about 500m offshore, and parallel to Marine Parade, Mt. Maunganui. This sand is 
being slowly washed on to the beach by long-period wave action, to substantially renourish the beach and 



Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
2001/2002  
12 

dune system in this area. A judicious application of urea fertiliser has increased the vigour of existing dune 
plants, to ensure they can fix the new sand in an accreting front dune complex. This will improve the ability of 
this dune to provide a flexible storm buffer in the future, and is thought to be the largest beach renourishment 
project in NZ. 
 
Nearly 2,000 native front-dune plants have been utilised to restore the front-dune on part of the Mount 
Maunganui main beach. After the normal one-year establishment period has passed, these plants should 
prevent the occasionally serious wind erosion problems that occur here, where Marine Parade can be closed 
to traffic due to sand drifts on the road. This is thought to be the only high public profile and high use beach 
in NZ to have a native dune plant community restored. Further plantings will occur here next year. 
 
Volunteer numbers and funding continue to increase, showing that community and political support for the 
CoastCare programme is very satisfactory. We are continuing our endeavours to ensure the direction of our 
work meets the needs of the community at large. 
 
Animal Pest Management 
 
Environment Bay of Plenty is the regional vector management agency for the Animal Health Board in regard 
to the control of Tb infected animal populations (both possums and ferrets). 
 
The Bay of Plenty Region remained officially free of Bovine Tuberculosis, meeting the international standard 
of less than 0.2% infection region wide. 
 
In the 2001/02 financial year Environment Bay of Plenty animal pest staff continued working with adjoining 
regional councils to co-ordinate the second year of initial and maintenance operations in the Bay of 
Plenty/East Taupo District. 
 
One large (14,400 hectare) initial operation against possums was completed with the outstanding result of 
0.5% RTC. 
 
Five ferret contracts were also completed and all were audited by staff for quality assurance purposes. Two 
large possum maintenance contracts at East Taupo were completed successfully with results lower than the 
performance targets (2%) achieved. Three additional surveys looking for infected wildlife were completed in 
Minginui, Ruatahuna and Rangitaiki-Wheao, all returning a negative result. A feral deer survey in the 
Whirinaki/Waipunga was completed and two positive culture deer samples were located.  Follow up 
operations to survey possums in the affected area were initiated to ensure no cross infection from deer. In 
August/September 2001 a full Technical Review of Bovine Tb operations was completed and presented to 
the Animal Health Board who provided positive feedback on the technical recommendations made. 
Environment Bay of Plenty has sponsored through its animal pest section, three community possum hunt 
events in Opotiki, Whakatane and Te Puke. All were very well attended and were a considerable success as 
regards education of children and rural communities. 
 
A joint Environment Bay of Plenty/Department of Conservation database has been created to track and 
record all reports of Koi Carp/Catfish sightings and subsequent action in the Bay of Plenty region. Staff from 
both organisations worked together from December to February to survey six Rotorua lakes for the presence 
of both Koi Carp and Catfish. No sign of either species were located.  
 
Work has been completed on a feral goat survey in the Te Puke district in areas with high biodiversity 
values. The information collated will be utilised when planning operations in the area in the 02/03 financial 
year. Co-ordination with the Department of Conservation in the East Coast area to ensure close liaison for 
feral goat control operations has been continued this year. 
 
Various animal pest staff have been involved as project officers for Environmental Enhancement Fund 
projects throughout the region.  A range of different animal pests have been targeted via the diverse projects 
involved. 
 
Staff have continued for the second year, work on the joint magpie research programme with six other 
regional councils being co-ordinated by Dr J Innes of Landcare Research, Hamilton. Initial results suggest 
that magpie control may have a significant effect on the life cycles of the Kereru (native pigeon) and the Tui, 
more detailed results are expected to become available in the third year (2002/2003). 
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Wasp monitoring on Mayor Island, Tauranga was carried out as a precursor to final investigations as to 
whether a wasp parasitoid had become established in the wasp population following release on the farmland 
in 1999/2000. Results were inconclusive and further monitoring is planned for December/January 
2002/2003. 
 
Work commenced in this period on a review of Environment Bay of Plenty’s Regional Pest Management 
Strategy for pest plants and animals. A discussion document has been finalised and distributed throughout 
the region prior to receiving submissions by late September 2002. 
 
Land Management 
 
Continuing development of the new Environmental Programme initiative has been a feature of the year. A 
new covenanting mechanism, extensive re-formatting of the agreement document and development of new 
management support systems to incorporate integration of animal and plant pest control functions were 
primary focus areas. A major initiative saw the development of a management database to support the 
development, implementation and monitoring of Environmental Programmes. 
 
Environmental Programmes approved, resulted in a further 1,191 hectares of land under formal ongoing 
management for protection for soil and water and indigenous biodiversity issues. The Onuku Trust was the 
most significant of these, resulting in protection of 712 hectares of land in the Lake Rotomahana. This 
agreement involved a partnership with Rotorua District Council which is also financially assisting the 
protection works. Works involving fencing and animal pest and plant pest control have commenced in the 
2003 financial year.  
 
Landowner interest in Environmental Programmes remains high and at year end staff were in the process of 
developing a further 30 programmes. Contributing to these will be the Tauranga Harbour Stream Care 
initiative where 5 streams are initially being focussed on to provide a comprehensive approach to streambed, 
streambank and riparian protection in the lower reaches. Landowners will participate using Environmental 
Programmes as the agreed mechanism. 
 
Annual contract monitoring of existing property plans continued during the year. This is proving successful in 
maintaining contact with landowners and assisting them to recognise their commitments to ongoing 
maintenance of protected areas. Works are generally in good order and any issues primarily relate to minor 
fence maintenance. Landowner response to undertaking remedial maintenance has been very good. 
 
Delivery of a quality advisory service to landowners has continued, together with the development and 
delivery of educational resources. Two land management videos were produced and distributed, while staff 
undertook a number of presentations, displays and school/community plantings. 
 
Land care groups (including stream care, estuary care etc.) continue to grow rapidly. Some have developed 
as extensions to Environmental Enhancement Fund (EEF) projects. The Care concept is being promoted 
through the production of newsletters/brochures, positive news media stories, and by working with 
community and user groups, particularly through our partnership with the N.Z. Landcare Trust. Our 
partnership with the Trust continues to develop well, with the Trust having a facilitation/coordination role and 
Environment Bay of Plenty staff providing technical support. The partnership is currently focussed primarily 
on the Tauranga/Western Bay of Plenty area, with particular emphasis on the Tauranga harbour catchment. 
 
Development of a Regional Land Monitoring system has continued with the primary focus on soil health 
monitoring. Participation in the national ‘500 Soils’ project with Landcare Research, and supported by 
Ministry for the Environment (MfE), has resulted in 75 sample points being established over a variety of land 
uses throughout the region. Experience and results from this are now being used to develop an agreed 
national methodology with other regional councils and MfE. This will result in the ability to confirm any 
regional trends with collated national trends and improve the robustness of regional data. 
 
Rivers and Drainage 
 
Aside from routine maintenance activities, the main thrust of work in this area was to progress the major 
flood protection restoration projects on Waioeka-Otara and Rangitaiki Rivers.  
 
Higher than expected flood levels on Waioeka-Otara and Rangitaiki Rivers, during July 1998 floods, initiated 
reviews of their respective hydrologic and hydraulic systems. Detailed computer modelling of both systems, 
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as well as physical modelling of the Waioeka-Otara Rivers confluence was subsequently carried out. The 
second stage of the consequent stopbank topping-up works was completed on both schemes. The final 
stages of these capital works projects will be progressing for the next 1-2 financial years on both schemes. 
 
The Whakatane and Waimana Rivers system again experienced repeated flood events during the year with 
the consequence that maintenance expenditure on that scheme closed significantly over budget.   
 
Reclassification of the Waioeka-Otara Rivers Scheme and the Kaituna Catchment Control Scheme were 
both completed this year as programmed. All four of the major river schemes managed by Environment Bay 
of Plenty now have whole-of-catchment, land area, differential rating systems in place. 
 
Adoption of the Regional Water and Land Plan, will result in the general authorisations that currently permit 
maintenance activities on Environment Bay of Plenty managed river and drainage schemes being 
superseded. To enable these maintenance works to continue as permitted activities under the Water and 
Land Plan, and to ensure that maintenance activities are carried out with minimum disruption to the 
environment, an “Environmental Code of Practice for Rivers & Drainage Maintenance Activities” document 
was adopted by Council on 6 September 2001. 
 
Close monitoring of willow sawfly (nematus oligospillus) damage to river scheme willow stocks is continuing. 
Environment Bay of Plenty, along with other Regional Councils in New Zealand, has provided additional 
funding to accelerate research into the sawfly and development of sawfly resistant willow species. Staff have 
been providing expertise through participation on a national group of river engineers that are investigating 
alternative river vegetation species in addition to carrying out their own alternative planting trials. 
 
Staff have continued to devote a lot of effort toward improving liaison with iwi regarding river scheme issues, 
particularly in the upper Whakatane River area. This liaison effort has been working well and staff consider 
that a better understanding of how and why river maintenance activities are undertaken now exists among 
iwi. As a result, a new river committee was established by the Western Tuhoe Executive to liaise with staff 
regarding issues effecting maintenance of the upper Whakatane River. Several amicable meetings and site 
inspections have been held to date. 
 
Technical Services 
 
The performance of the Technical Services section for the 2001/02 financial year was again hampered by a 
lack of staff resources. Strong efforts were made to obtain resources both from within New Zealand and 
overseas. A pending appointment to one of the two vacant specialist engineering positions will improve the 
situation. External consultancy services were used strategically where possible. 
 
A large part of the work involved comment and design advice on consent applications, subdivisions and 
specific projects.  Requests for design advice were completed within five working days around 80 percent of 
the time. Adequate resources would have enabled a higher percentage completion in this time frame.  
 
The full survey programme was completed, including several additional tasks relating to construction works 
and compliance matters. 
 
Only 70 percent of staff resources were available for the planned 29 engineering and design projects.  In 
terms of numbers of projects 70 percent were completed representing 72 percent of budgeted scope 
(weighted by budgeted cost).   
 
Good progress was made on the rainfall-runoff flood-forecasting models.  Work focussed on upgrading and 
development of user-friendly software for the Waioeka and Whakatane models, with both these models 
predicting a moderate real-time flood to within 5 percent.  Availability of data hampered progress on the 
Rangitaiki model, although that is now being progressed. 
 
Two draft reports were completed in accordance with total programme scope for the Whakatane River 
stopbank stability investigations.  Hydraulic modelling work was completed on the Utuhina Stream, Waioeka-
Otara design scenarios, 80 percent of Whakatane River recalibration, 70 percent of the Kaituna Drains 
capacity, and survey and calibration data was obtained for the Tarawera River.  The Whakatane Floodplain 
Management Strategy was deferred pending appointment of a Project Engineer and the micro-seismic study 
deferred to enable external acceptance, this project being partially replaced by contribution to the micro-
seismic zoning in the Western Bay of Plenty. 
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The jet boat erosion project was successfully completed and the Matata Lagoon control structure was 
constructed.  Good progress made on the various wetlands investigations and monitoring. 
 
 
Finance  
 
Accounting 
 
Finance staff have developed a new Excel based financial reporting system (Exfin) for monthly and year to 
date reporting for use by budget managers which enables a more “user friendly” access to and use of the 
main financial general ledger and job cost system. An investigation into Triple Bottom Line Reporting 
(Sustainability Reporting) was commissioned with view to a proposed sequenced implementation over the 
next few years. The establishment of a permanent part time internal audit position has enabled audits of a 
number of accounting and systems functions. Treasury policies have been amended to allow for internal 
borrowing from surplus funds for council and river scheme capital works.  
 
Rating 
 
Further progress was made on the reclassification and change of rating base from capital value to land area 
of the Waioeka-Otara Rivers Scheme and the reclassification of the land area based Kaituna River Scheme, 
both implemented on 1 July 2002. Regular liaison and mutual cooperation has been maintained with the rate 
collecting district councils which collect our general and major river scheme rates. Environment Bay of Plenty 
continues to collect directly the rates for the 37 minor river and drainage schemes. 
 
 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 
Information Services 
 
Significant effort was expended by all sub-sections (GIS, Database, Cartography and Plan Administration) of 
IS to bring the Kaituna and Waioeka/Otara rating schemes to a successful conclusion with the delivery of the 
rating information and rating maps to the 4 District Councils involved in the rate collection.  The Geographic 
Information Service (GIS) team has continued to enhance the organisations spatial analysis and desktop 
GIS mapping capability by running a further series of MapInfo training courses.   
 
The Database team responded to the needs of the organisation providing new databases to support 
Environmental Education initiatives, the further integration of Land Management Database processes in 
Environmental Programs, improvements in the Consents Timeframe reporting processes and other 
enhancements to improve internal workflows to provide automatic reporting of exclusions and reduce manual 
data entry. 
 
The necessary replacement of the core GIS and Cartography specialised software poses a challenge going 
into the 2002/2003 year as we seek to make the transition and migration while maintaining good service 
levels to the organisation.  Development work undertaken in the Database team this year to move our 
website www.envbop.govt.nz from its static format into a dynamic, content managed environment in the 
coming year is expected to improve our speed and ability to interact with our community through this 
powerful medium. 
 
Investments 
 
Environment Bay of Plenty’s investment vehicle is its subsidiary, Quayside Holdings Limited. The Quayside 
Group continued to hold and manage the region’s 55% shareholding in the Port of Tauranga Limited. The 
group also managed other long-term diversified investments arising from special dividends received by the 
group together with a return of capital from the port shareholding in 2001/02. At 30 June 2002 those 
Quayside investments were valued at $60.63m while Quayside Group debt stood at $53.48m. 
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It remains the policy of Environment Bay of Plenty to maximise sustainable returns to the ratepayers of the 
Bay of Plenty Region. The budget set for the coming year includes income of $14.57m from investments. 
This annual return to ratepayers has been achieved from an original investment value of $44.2 million in 
1992. 
 
Between Environment Bay of Plenty and Quayside a bank investment of over $53.9m ($53.5m Environment 
Bay of Plenty) was held and managed throughout the year with the assistance of professional fund 
managers for the maximisation of secure returns to the ratepayers via reduced general rates. Investment 
income was, and will continue to be, a significant part of Environment Bay of Plenty’s revenue. 
 
Computer & Telecommunication Services 
 
The “Seamless” Communications Strategy has been further improved with the implementation of a new 
voicemail solution for the organisation.  A project to install a Voice Over IP (VoIP) solution commenced 
during the year. In the first stage, the outer offices and depots have had their phone systems replaced.  A 
number of issues have had to be resolved and the first stage has taken longer than anticipated to implement. 
The second implementation phase, currently under way, to transform the main office into a fully VoIP 
solution, should see the phone system performance improve to the same level as the data platform. 
 
The computer network has again grown with more staff and greater requirements to be serviced in the outer 
offices.  The amount of data stored by the organisation has again doubled.  Two Network Attached Storage 
(NAS) units were successfully implemented to complement the planned growth in the Storage Area Network 
(SAN). 
 
 
HR & Corporate Services 
 
Corporate Services 
 
The normal key corporate service tasks vital to the smooth running of the organisation were completed 
successfully during the year. These included insurance renewals and administration; plant and vehicle 
management, maintenance and replacement; certification of the Whakatane, Rotorua and Tauranga office 
buildings under the Building Act. The day-to-day administrative duties of records and library management, 
graphic and word processing, council, committee and hearings secretarial servicing, office and staff support 
services and property management and maintenance continued. 
 
Key tasks achieved included the successful renovation and occupation of the first floor area of the old 
catchment building as offices and the two additions onto the second floor deck area in the main HQ building. 
 
Human Resource Management 
 
This year was the first full year of operating under the new Employment Relations Act 2001. Individual 
Employment Agreements were reviewed, the Wage Staff Collective renewed and substantial negotiations 
have occurred in trying to reach agreement on a new Salaried Officers Collective Agreement. 
 
The review of Environment Bay of Plenty’s organisational structure last year lead to some organisational 
development initiatives this year. The largest being an organisational culture identification and review project. 
A Culture/Values Statement was adopted by the Senior Management Group in late July. 
 
A new Human Resource database was developed and commissioned during the year, providing much 
improved storage, access and reporting facilities for employee related information. 
 
Staff turnover was an acceptable 11% for the year. The main reasons for leaving were travel, career 
progression, parental leave and bereavements. 
 
Continued effort is being applied to increase and maintain awareness of healthy and safe working practices. 
There were 28 reported work related injuries which resulted in ACC claims during the period, all of a minor 
nature and none requiring referral to the Department of Labour. Workdays lost totalled approximately 0.05%. 
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Community Relations 
 
The highlight of the past year has been the awarding of the Green Ribbon award for Bay Trends, our state of 
the environment report. In presenting the award, the Minister for the Environment, Hon Marian Hobbs 
praised the report as being clear and dynamic. This report was published in July 2001 and distributed widely 
throughout the region following report launches in Tauranga, Rotorua and Whakatane. A PowerPoint 
presentation has also been developed and used with many groups and organisations throughout the Bay of 
Plenty to raise awareness of the main messages in the report. 
 
The community relations group worked within budget to keep the region’s publics informed about 
Environment Bay of Plenty’s policies and activities.  Key activities here included: over 100 media releases 
issued to regional newspapers and radio stations; regular columns in community newspapers; six issues of a 
newsletter sent to over 1,200 people throughout the region; four issues of our own Regional Guardian 
newspaper with a more magazine style and higher quality paper stock; radio advertisements and phone-ins 
featuring topical issues each week with radio stations in Rotorua, Tauranga and Whakatane; continuing 
development of the website; and production of pamphlets on a range of issues including rural fires and the 
annual aquatic guides. We displayed work at four A and P Shows, focussed on navigation and safety at the 
Bay of Plenty Boat Show and promoted environmental messages at a range of other expos. We have also 
provided strategic communications advice on many projects carried out by Environment Bay of Plenty. 
 
In March 2001 we were the principal sponsor of Ecofest BOP, the two-yearly festival of the environment. 
More than 1,200 people attended at least one of the 100 events that took place. Environment Bay of Plenty 
also hosted and participated in several events including the spectacular opening in the Redwood Forest in 
Rotorua, the EcoExpo in Tauranga, BeeBop’s birthday parties, weed identification competitions, Coast Care 
rocky shore rambles and pesky plant displays. 
 
The regional symposium EnviroAction was held in Tauranga in June with over 100 people attending. 
Attendance figures were lower than expected but responses to the field trips has been largely positive and 
the secondary schools group was extremely successful and is planning to meet again. 
 
We have continued to implement the environmental education strategy with several key pieces of work. They 
include: 
 
1 Support for environmental educators in the region via REEF the BOP Regional Environmental 

Education Forum. 
 
2 Continued support for environmental education in schools through: 
 

• Teacher training workshops 
• Provision of environmental information to students and teachers 
• Development of teaching resources such as “Waiora” - a water education unit for primary 

schools. 
• Development of the Environmental Education Directory for the Bay of Plenty. 

 
3 Development of a new programme to support business and industry related environmental education 

in the region. 
 
4 Continued development of the Pollution Busters Club providing learning opportunities for over 1,400 

kids interested in the Bay of Plenty environment. 
 
5 Providing quality information for more than 2,300 information requests. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Overall, the year ending 30 June 2002 was another very successful year for Environment Bay of Plenty. 
During the first half of the year we had a new Council presented to us by the electors of whom nearly half 
had never been councillors of Environment Bay of Plenty before. This new governance group has come to 
terms with the issues ahead of Environment Bay of Plenty very quickly and it is pleasing as Chief Executive 
to note that they are generally supportive of the previous policies and initiatives of the Council while at the 
same time wanting to move forward with our communities in achieving improvements to their environment. 
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On a sadder note, I record the deaths of two employees in the first half of the financial year.  Peter Ingram, 
our Plant Pest Coordinator since Environment Bay of Plenty’s inception in 1989 died in August 2001. He had 
previously held a senior position in one of the former noxious plants authorities. Peter had been a valuable 
employee who had ensured that through his management and guidance of his staff, the transition from the 
old system of plant pest management undertaken by noxious plans authorities into the new integrated 
system of a multi-tasking environmental agency such as Environment Bay of Plenty, was a smooth one. 
 
The second staff member we lost was Janene Herdman, our Publications Officer. Environment Bay of Plenty 
is an ideas organisation – much of its output is by way of printed word in one form or another and Janene 
was the link between the Council and the staff through the preparation, the printing of agendas and reports, 
and between Environment Bay of Plenty as an organisation and its community again through the publication 
of the many reports and documents which were prepared by Environment Bay of Plenty. Janene was loved 
by all the staff she came into contact with, and her death in October 2001 at a very young age, as a result of 
cancer, was a tragedy. 
 
The loss of these two staff, following closely behind the death of one of my departmental heads just a few 
months earlier in the year left big holes in the organisation which the staff have rallied to fill temporarily until 
we could do something more permanently about it.  May the three of them rest in peace. 
 
I have no difficulty yet again in repeating the sentiments that I have made at the conclusion of annual reports 
in the years gone by. I value the good working relationship between the Councillors of Environment Bay of 
Plenty and myself and the general staff which has always been a feature of this organisation. I value the 
commitment and loyalty of the staff of Environment Bay of Plenty who continue to get the job done and if that 
means going the extra mile from time to time then that is done without question and, in many cases, without 
any particular reward.   
 
Unfortunately, because of the nature of the work that we do, many in our community would only be able to 
notice if we were not doing our job: if the air became polluted, if the rivers and lakes were not improving in 
terms of their water quality, if flood protection was not available, the place was overrun with noxious plants or 
possums and rabbits, or if every time it rained people got flooded. The staff form a thin green line addressing 
all of these issues in the interests of the Bay of Plenty community of which they are a part and which they 
serve. I acknowledge their efforts. 
 
In the year ahead, we can expect to see the enactment of the new Local Government Bill. It is going to 
provide a significant challenge to all of local government and particularly to regional councils.  It will provide 
much more empowering legislation than the existing Local Government Bill which tends to be restrictive, 
specifying as it does, the things that local government may do and thereby statutorily preventing them from 
doing anything else even if their community wants it. 
 
The new legislation will effectively specify what local government is not able to do and then generally allow 
local government to do anything that it has got the support of its community to do. It goes without saying that 
this Council will want to continue to discharge its existing responsibilities and only when it is confident that 
any initiatives are not going to impair its ability to discharge those core responsibilities will it look at taking on 
new functions. 
 
Fortunately from the community’s point of view, there are checks and balances which ensure that community 
participation in the decision making process will be available and that taking on of new functions does not 
just become a free-for-all. 
 
I trust that readers of this report will be satisfied that Environment Bay of Plenty has given a good account of 
its stewardship over the year ending 30 June 2002.  
 

 
 
Jeff Jones 
Chief Executive 
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Report on Long Term Financial Strategy and Policies 

Introduction 
 
Each Local Authority is required to prepare and adopt a Long-Term Financial Strategy, Funding Policy, 
Investment Policy and Borrowing Management Policy. 
 
Section 122V of the Local Government Act specifies that every Local Authority must provide in its Annual 
Report sufficient information about each of the documents listed above to enable an informed assessment of 
the extent to which the objectives and provisions of the strategy and policies have been met during that year.   
 
Long Term Financial Strategy 
 
Background 
 
The Long-Term Financial Strategy (LTFS) as outlined in the Annual Plan identifies significant activities of the 
Council and provides for associated estimated future expenses, revenues, cash flows and other movements 
in the Statement of Financial Position.  The general aim of the LTFS is to ensure that the Council has 
adequately considered and accounted for its future operations in accordance with the following six principles: 
 
• Prudent management of Council activities in the interest of the region and its inhabitants. 
• Adequate provision for expenditure needs of the Council. 
• Adequate consideration and assessment of benefits and costs of different options. 
• Lawful funding mechanisms that on reasonable grounds can be considered as appropriate. 
• Maintaining prudent levels of debt in accordance with borrowing management policy. 
• Operating revenue to cover all projected operating expenses. 
 
In 2001/2002 the Council was in Year 1 of the LTFS adopted in June 2001 in respect of the ten year period 
commencing 1 July 2001. 
 
Overall Performance 
 
There were no significant variations from the strategy adopted in June 2001 and the Council’s actual 
financial performance and financial position were in line with that forecast in the Annual Plan except for: 
 
• A delay in the settlement of the Papamoa Hills Regional Park. 
• Successful applicants to the Environmental Enhancement Fund not taking out their entitlement prior to 

30 June resulting in funds being held until distribution. 
• Environmental Programmes not establishing as early as expected.  
• A revaluation of infrastructural assets and buildings as at 30 June resulting in Fixed Asset value being 

substantially more than budget. 
 
Council has substantially achieved the level of non-financial performance as stated in the Statements of 
Service Performance. Specific long term targets as reflected in the Strategic Plan and LTFS have been 
reported against in the individual Cost of Service Statements. 
 
The Council’s actual financial performance and financial position are in line with that forecast in the Annual 
Plan except for the variations outlined in Note 33 and as demonstrated in the statement of service 
performance, the Council has substantially achieved the objectives set in the Annual Plan. 
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Funding Policy 
 
Background 
 
The Funding Policy as adopted in June 2001 is designed to ensure that the costs of each function are 
funded by people or groups in a way which matches the benefits received or the negative effects contributed.   
 
Overall Performance 
 
The actual mix of funding sources achieved was very close to that as planned in the Funding Policy. The 
following table gives the target (as per the Funding Policy) and actual percentages achieved for each 
significant activity in terms of source of revenue.   
 
 
 
Comparison of Funding Policy Percentages to Actual for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rivers & Drainage Schemes   

 Budget Actual 
General Funds 6 6 
Other Public Funding 2 3 
User Charges 1 1 
Reserves 9 12 
Separate Rates 52 53 
Debt 30 25 

 General Funds Other Public 
Funding User Charges Reserves 

 % 
Budget 

% 
Actual 

% 
Budget 

% 
Actual 

% 
Budget 

% 
Actual 

% 
Budget 

% 
Actual 

Representation 93 94 - 1 - - 7 5 
Transport 34 33 30 33 35 31 1 3 
Resource Policy  71 86 - 7 1 1 28 6 
Civil Defence 89 86 4 6 1 1 6 7 
Regulatory Services 52 54 - 1 43 39 5 6 
NERMN 76 73 - 3 13 10 11 14 
Environmental Investigations 92 90 1 - 2 2 5 8 
Navigation, Safety & Oil Pollution 73 69 - 4 23 22 4 5 
Environmental Planning 95 92 - - 1 2 4 6 
Biosecurity Plant Pests 89 88 - 2 3 1 8 9 
Biosecurity Animal Pests 47 47 44 43 4 3 5 7 
Land Management 86 84 7 7 1 1 6 8 
Engineering & Land Resources Investigations 91 87 - 2 2 2 7 9 
Property Works 69 83 7 - 20 11 4 6 
Community Initiatives  90 96 - - - - 10 4 
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Investment Policy 
 
Background 
 
The Council delegates responsibility for management, monitoring and reporting of Council investment and 
activities to its Finance & Corporate Services committee.  A Treasury Management Policy document sets out 
the parameters for the operation of the finance division, and the volume of investments that the Council will 
be involved with.  The mix of investments between current and non-current is determined according to the 
Council’s working capital needs. 
 
Overall Performance 
 
There are no significant overall variations or material departures from the Council’s investment policy as 
reported in the Annual Plan. 
 
Specific Objectives and Targets 
 
 2001/2002 Target Performance 
General Policy Adherence to Policy Achieved, policy has been 

adhered to. 
Equity Investments To maintain a majority shareholding in Port 

of Tauranga Limited through Council’s 
holding Company Quayside Holdings 
Limited. 

Achieved, shareholding 
maintained at 55%. 

Property Investments To own property that is necessary to 
achieve Council’s strategic objectives. 

Policy adhered to.  No new 
properties purchased. 

Funds Investments Return of $11,216,900 on Funds 
Management Agreement Investments and 
Quayside dividend 

Achieved, actual return 
$11,356,180. 

 
Borrowing Management Policy 
 
Background 
 
The main function of the Borrowing Management Policy is aimed at management of liquidity and interest rate 
risks to ensure that funds are available, when required, at least cost, over an appropriate term. 
 
Overall Performance 
 
There are no significant variations or material departures from the Council’s borrowing management policy 
as reported in the Annual Plan.   
 
Specific Objectives and Targets 
 
2001/2002 Target Performance Significant 

Variations/Comments 
Adherence to Policy Achieved. - 
Total Interest Expense on All 
External Borrowings not to Exceed 
20% of Annual Rates and Levies 

Interest expense 4.66% of 
annual rates and levies. 

- 

To Ensure that no More Than 40% of 
Total Debt is Subject to Refinancing 
in any Financial Year 

9.75% of debt subject to 
refinancing during the 2002 
financial year. 

- 

New borrowing level 
$1,874,700 

New borrowing of 
$1,929,000 raised during 
financial year. 

Due to delays in commencement 
of some capital works and 
bringing forward (with Council 
approval) of others. 
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Statement of Compliance and Responsibility 

Compliance 
 
1 The Council and management of The Bay of Plenty Regional Council confirm that all statutory 

requirements of Parts VIIA and VIIB of the Local Government Act 1974 regarding financial 
management and borrowing have been complied with. 

 
Responsibility 
 
2 The Council and management of The Bay of Plenty Regional Council accept responsibility for the 

preparation of the annual Financial Statements and the judgements used in them. 
 
3 The Council and management of The Bay of Plenty Regional Council accept responsibility for 

establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance 
as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. 

 
4 In the opinion of the Council and management of The Bay of Plenty Regional Council, the annual 

Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2002 fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of The Bay of Plenty Regional Council. 

 

             
 
 
Chairman    Chief Executive    Group Manager Finance 
J M Cronin    J A Jones    P J Gavin 
 
30 October 2002   30 October 2002   30 October 2002 
 
 
 
 
Local Government Act 1974 Disclosure Requirement 
 
Pursuant to Section 122T, U and V of the Act, the following information is provided: 
 
 2001 LTFS

($000)
Actual
($000)

Variance
($000)

 2002$ 2002$
 
Total operating revenue 25,500 25,632 132
Total operating expenditure 25,476 24,424 (1,052)
Net surplus/(deficit) (24) 663 687
Working capital 56,605 55,723 (882)
Non current assets 107,846 135,298 27,452
Non current liabilities 8,849 7,034 (1,815)
Reserves 59,941 89,835 29,894
Accumulated funds 95,613 94,152 (1,461)
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Introduction to Statements of Service Performance 
Under the Local Government Act 1974, the Council is required to report on its performance as it relates to 
measures established in the Annual Plan. These are reported in the Statements of Service Performance for 
each function contained in the following pages. 
 
Performance reporting is a developing area and the Council continues to strive to incorporate measures 
which are appropriate, which measure outcomes, and which can be supported by relevant evidential 
material. The approach used is to report directly against the Plan measures while, at the same time, outlining 
major activities achieved. 
 
Each function as a whole incorporates elements of quality, quantity, timeliness, cost and location (where 
applicable). Quality processes (which affect the quality of the output) are also a standard feature of the 
internal management control systems. 
 
In particular: 
 
 Preparation of Regional Plans 

 
Quality processes include consultation with the public and affected parties, internal peer review, and 
compliance with requirements of relevant legislation. 

 
 Preparation of Internal Reports 

 
Internal reports are prepared by suitably qualified and experienced staff. Significant reports are subject 
to a peer review process/committee review. 

 
 Capital Works 

 
Capital works are constructed to design specifications. Inspections of works are undertaken by suitably 
qualified and experienced engineers. 

 
 Maintenance Works 

 
Maintenance works are undertaken by employees or by contract under the supervision of suitably 
qualified and experienced engineers and monitored thereafter in accordance with the maintenance 
programme. 
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Representation 
 
Statement of Objectives and Service Performance 
 
Description of Activity – This function’s overall objective is to provide for the activities of the Chairman and 
elected members of the Bay of Plenty Regional Council, the conduct of elections and the proportions of 
general management and regional liaison which relate to democracy. 
 
Representation and Cost of Democracy 
 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To provide for effective and efficient regional government of the Bay of Plenty whilst achieving a 

responsive and effective relationship between the Council and the regional community including iwi of 
the region. To ensure that council is properly advised on all relevant issues to assist it in policy making 
and that staff efficiently and effectively implement that policy. 

 
2 To ensure that the regional community is adequately informed of Environment Bay of Plenty’s role, 

policies and performance targets. 
 
3 To take into account the principles of Treaty of Waitangi in Council’s activities. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Public meetings of full Council and the committees shall be held in accordance with legislation and 

current standing orders. Each Councillor will attend at least 90% of full Council meetings and the 
committees to which each is appointed. 

 
1.2 Comply with the statutory requirements of the annual plan process especially with public consultation 

and to provide the audited 2000/2001 Annual Report to the public and other users by 30 November 
2001. 

 
1.3 Provide a written review of each significant activity undertaken by Council by 30 June 2002. 
 
2.1 Within a budget of $657,400 to report to the public on Environment Bay of Plenty’s policies and 

activities through media releases, newsletters, advertisements, internet, fact sheets and pamphlets. 
 
2.2 Mount high impact public displays and answer enquiries on council’s activities by providing information 

packs and reports. 
 
2.3 Implement the Environmental Education Strategy. 
 
2.4 Coordinate a festival of the environment throughout the region and host an environmental symposium 

on the state of the region’s environment by the end of June 2002. 
 
3.1 To consult with appropriate tangata whenua representatives of all council activities affecting tangata 

whenua of the Bay of Plenty region. 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 With the exception of circumstances of sickness or authorised leave of absence, councillors attended 

an average 95% of public council and committee meetings held in accordance with legislation and 
current standing orders. 
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 All council and committee meetings were advertised in compliance with statutory requirements – there 
were no emergency meetings of council. Apart from the occasional tabled report, all agendas/reports 
for public meetings were available not less than two clear working days before meetings. 

 
1.2 The Annual Plan and RMA Section 36 Charges Policy for the 2002/2003 financial year complied with 

the statutory requirements for public notification as set out in the Local Government Act. The plans 
and strategies were adopted on 13 June 2002. The audited 2000/2001 Annual Report was provided to 
the public and other users on 23 November 2001. 

 
1.3 A summary review of each significant activity by Environment Bay of Plenty pursuant to section 

247(D)2A of the Local Government Act 1974 was undertaken by the chief executive and a written 
report detailing this summary review was made to the chairman on 26 June 2002. 

 
2.1 The community relations group worked within the annual budget of $657,400 to keep the region’s 

publics informed about Environment Bay of Plenty’s policies and activities. Key activities included: 
 

• over 100 media releases issued to regional newspapers and radio stations;  

• regular columns in community newspapers; six issues of a newsletter sent to over 1,200 people 
throughout the region;  

• four issues of the Regional Guardian newspaper produced with a more magazine style and 
higher quality paper stock;  

• radio advertisements and phone-ins featuring topical issues each week with radio stations in 
Rotorua, Tauranga and Whakatane;  

• continuing development of the website; 

• production of pamphlets on a range of issues including rural fires and the annual aquatic guides. 
 
2.2 Displays staged at four A and P Shows; focus on navigation and safety at the Bay of Plenty Boat 

Show and promotion of environmental messages at a range of other expos.  
 
 Over 2000 requests responded to for information on a wide range of environmental and organisational 

topics 
 
2.3 Continued implementation of the environmental education strategy with several key pieces of work. 

They include: 
 

• Support for environmental educators in the region via REEF the BOP Regional Environmental 
Education Forum. 

 
• Continued support for environmental education in schools through: 

 
− Teacher training workshops 
− Provision of environmental information to students and teachers 
− Development of teaching resources such as “Waiora” - a water education unit for primary 

schools. 
− Development of the Environmental Education Directory for the Bay of Plenty. 

 
• Development of a new programme to support business and industry related environmental 

education in the region. 
 
• Continued development of the Pollution Busters Club providing learning opportunities for over 

1,400 young people interested in the Bay of Plenty environment. 
 
• Provision of quality information for more than 2300 information requests. 
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2.4 In March 2001 Environment Bay of Plenty was the principal sponsor of Ecofest BOP, the two-yearly 
festival of the environment. More than 12,000 people attended at least one of the 100 events that took 
place. Environment Bay of Plenty also hosted and participated in several events including the 
spectacular opening in the Redwood Forest in Rotorua, the EcoExpo in Tauranga, BeeBop’s birthday 
parties, weed identification competitions, Coast Care rocky shore rambles and pesky plant displays. 

 
 The regional symposium EnviroAction was held in Tauranga in June with over 100 people attending. 

Attendance figures were lower than expected but responses to the field trips has been largely positive 
and the secondary schools group was extremely successful and is planning to meet again. 

 
3.1 I ahua mawhe nei nga komiti Maori i te tau kua taha ake nei, no te mea e tau ana te hakoa i 

whaimanatia te ture mo nga turanga Maori ki tenei Kaunihera. Heoi ano, ka oti atu era ahuatanga, ko 
te tirotiro a nga komiti Maori “Me pehea ra e kaha ake ai te noho pumau a te iwi, ki te taha ki tenei 
kaunihera”. Koia nei te take i tino kokiritia i tenei tau. 

 
 E toru nga hui whakaminenga a nga komiti Maori mo tenei tau. I tua atu i era, i karangatia he hui noho 

marae ma nga mema katoa o te Kaunihera, me nga mema katoa o nga komiti Maori. He hui tino 
momoho rawa atu, ki tera  marae a tatau ki Te Maungarongo, ki Ohope. E ai ki te korero ra “He 
herenga waka, he whitiwhiti korero, he whitiwhiti whakaaro.” E whakamiharo ana nga hunga katoa i 
tau atu ki tera hui. 

 
 The year was somewhat of an anticlimax for the Maori committees, due to the euphoria over the 

empowering of the Maori constituency for Council. However, following on from there the Maori 
committees canvassed “How we might strengthen the close relationship which iwi and Council have 
strived to establish.” This was the major issue addressed this year. 

 
 Three joint Maori committee meetings were held during the year. Further to those, a marae live-in 

meeting was held for all elected councillors and all Maori committee members. This most successful 
meeting was held at Te Maungarongo marae at Ohope. Meeting alluded to the well known Maori 
aphorism “Whereever canoes are beached, dialogue and thoughts are exchanged.” All participants 
recorded their warm appreciation of the meeting. 

 
 

Representation and Cost of Democracy 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(24)  Direct Income (13) (7) 
(854)  General Rates (742) (746) 
(867)  Investment Income (1,354) (1,325) 

(1,745)  Total Revenue (2,109) (2,078) 
      
  Expenditure    

1,686  Operating Expenses 2,204  2,146 
      

(59)  Net cost(surplus) of operations 95  68 
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Resource Planning 
 
Statement of Objectives and Service Performance 
 
Description of Activity – Resource Planning’s overall objective is to promote the sustainable management 
of the natural and physical resources of the region primarily through the preparation and maintenance of a 
regional policy statement, various regional plans, a land transport strategy and a regional civil defence plan. 
 
Transport 
 
Objectives 
 
1 To develop and promote strategies and implement policies that effectively address the land 

transport needs of the region. 
 
2 To discharge Council’s responsibilities under the Transit New Zealand Act 1989, the Transport 

Services Licensing Act 1989 and the Land Transport Act 1998. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To develop a draft revised Regional Land Transport Strategy for approval for the Regional Land 

Transport Committee by February 2002. 
 
1.2 To increase passenger transport patronage in the region by 15% through the implementation and 

marketing of new and improved public transport services. 
 
2.1 To prepare and present the regional programme for 2002/2003, including a regional road safety 

programme, in terms of the Transit NZ Act 1989 and by the date specified. 
 
2.2 To prepare an annual report on progress in implementing the RLTS during the 2000/2001 financial 

year, and make it available to the public, by 30 September 2001. 
 
2.3 To update the central register of approved Total Mobility scheme users and notify appropriate 

support agencies, within five working days of receiving applications for registration from people 
who meet the eligibility criteria. 

 
2.4 To register all complying passenger transport services within 21 days of receiving notification of 

those services. 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 While work has been progressing steadily on reviewing the Regional Land Transport Strategy, it 

has not yet reached the stage where a draft has been prepared for the approval of the Regional 
Land Transport Committee. This target was not achieved, primarily as a result of changing the 
methodology for reviewing the Strategy, part way through the process.  

 
1.2 Best estimates put the increase between 2000/01 and 2001/02 in passenger transport patronage 

for services funded by Environment Bay of Plenty in the region, at 85%. This achievement resulted 
in total expenditure being over-spent by 5.5%, however this was offset by Council receiving greater 
funding from Transfund than budgeted, as patronage growth funding.  The net effect was that the 
project was under spent by 6%. 

 
2.1 Council prepared the 2002/2003 regional programme and regional road safety programme in terms 

of the Transit New Zealand Act and submitted the regional programme to Transfund New Zealand 
on 5 April 2002 and the road safety programme to Land Transport Safety Authority on 9 October 
2001 (programmes required by 5 April 2002 and 17 October 2001, respectively). 

 
2.2 Council prepared the 2000/2001 annual report on progress in implementing the Regional Land 

Transport Strategy and forwarded a copy to Transit New Zealand, Transfund New Zealand, Land 
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Transport Safety Authority, Police and Ministry of Transport on 18 September 2001. The report was 
also available to the public from this date. 

 
2.3 The central register of Total Mobility users was updated and support agencies notified, generally 

within five working days of receiving applications for registration from people who met the eligibility 
criteria. From a sample of the 460 Total Mobility applications received last year, it was established 
that two were processed outside the five working days (i.e. over 99% were processed within five 
working days).  

 
2.4 All eight applications to register a passenger transport service and one application to register a 

variation received in the 2001/2002 financial year, were registered within 21 days.  
 

 
Transport 

 
Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 

 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(428)  Direct Income (1,016) (919) 
(290)  General Rates (366) (369) 
(294)  Investment Income (669) (654) 

(1,012)  Total Revenue (2,051) (1,942) 
      
  Expenditure    

940  Operating Expenses 1,969  1,935 
      

(72)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (82) (7) 
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Resource Policy  
 
Objectives  
 
1 To promote the sustainable management of the region’s natural and physical resources by way of 

a regional policy statement that provides an overview of the region and its issues, and policies and 
methods for integrated management. 

 
2 To promote the region’s resource management objectives by making representations to other 

agencies. 
 
3 To monitor regional planning-related issues and to facilitate and contribute to the development of 

strategic policy for the resolution of resource management issues in the region. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1 To implement the provisions of the Operative Bay of Plenty Regional Policy Statement and to 

comply with the statutory requirements relating to submissions on the change incorporating 
heritage criteria and any other change. 

 
2.1 To participate in consultation initiated by other local authorities, government departments, iwi 

authorities and tribal runanga, and non-governmental organisations, on issues related to the 
Council’s functions and duties in resource management, and to comment and make submissions 
accordingly. 

 
3.1 To monitor and report on the social, economic, aesthetic and cultural environment of the region, 

and developing trends and to respond to, and research as necessary, unforeseen planning-related 
issues. 

 
3.2 To progress the development of a heritage strategy and to implement a regional heritage database 

system by January 2002. 
 
3.3 To develop a regional policy framework for the establishment of regional parks in the Bay of Plenty. 
 
3.4 To participate in a partnership and consultative approach to implementing the strategy for the lakes 

of the Rotorua District. 
 
3.5 To participate in a partnership and consultative approach to the development and implementation 

of a strategy for managing growth and development in the western part of the Bay of Plenty region. 
 
3.6 To adopt a management strategy for hazardous substances, waste and contaminated sites. 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Implementation is progressing. Preparation of the draft change relating to heritage criteria has 

continued, including further consultation. Until the proposed change is publicly notified, no statutory 
requirements regarding submissions apply 

 
2.1 The Council, and staff under delegated authority, considered 92 documents released by 

government departments, non-governmental organisations, and other local authorities including 
constituent district councils, and commented or submitted on 64 of them. Council staff participated 
in informal meetings with representatives of several tangata whenua groups on their initiative to 
discuss issues of specific concern to them. Under agreed protocols, Environment Bay of Plenty 
was sent a total of 305 copies of resource consent applications made by applicants to district 
councils during the financial year. After due consideration, Environment Bay of Plenty made 
submissions or comments on 214 of these.  Various opportunities were taken to represent the 
Council’s interests informally. 
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3.1 Data from Census 2001 has been purchased and made available. Research and preliminary policy 
development was undertaken regarding a potential regional council role in regional economic 
development, integration of wetland protection, climate change, the region’s air transport 
requirements, and genetically modified organisms. 

 
3.2 A heritage strategy project framework has been established providing for district council and 

tangata whenua involvement. The recognised complexities of establishing a heritage database 
have led to the initial focus being on a biodiversity database and user needs have been identified. 

 
3.3 The Interim Policy on Regional Parks adopted by the Council on 24 May 2001 has guided the 

Council in its decision to contribute to the purchase of a regional park by Tauranga and Western 
Bay of Plenty District Councils. 

 
3.4 Lakes strategy implementation with Rotorua District Council and Te Arawa Maori Trust Board 

continued with project teams addressing strategy tasks including, in particular, riparian protection 
and co-management.   

 
3.5 Regional councillors participated with Tauranga and Western Bay of Plenty District Councils and 

tangata whenua representatives in a Joint Sub Regional Growth Management Committee 
(SmartGrowth Joint Committee) in implementing the Inception Report adopted on 27 June 2001.   

 
3.6 Progress in preparing a management strategy for hazardous substances, waste and contaminated 

sites has been affected by the need to link it to The New Zealand Waste Strategy, which was not 
published until March 2002, and the complexities of co-ordinating district councils’ input to the 
strategy. The strategy has therefore not yet been adopted. Environment Bay of Plenty has co-
ordinated the development of a methodology for and the undertaking of a survey of hazardous 
waste in the Waikato and Bay of Plenty Regions, jointly funded with Environment Waikato, 
Auckland Regional Council and the Sustainable Management Fund; the information gathered will 
inform the strategy. The Tauranga and Western Bay of Plenty District Councils Waste Management 
Plan, prepared by those councils in conjunction with Environment Bay of Plenty, was endorsed by 
Environment Bay of Plenty on 27 September 2001.   

 
 

Resource Policy 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(23)  Direct Income (132) (15) 
(584)  General Rates (512) (515) 
(593)  Investment Income (935) (915) 

(1,200)  Total Revenue (1,579) (1,445) 
      
  Expenditure    

1,230  Operating Expenses 1,517  1,919 
      

30  Net cost(surplus) of operations (62) 474 
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Civil Defence 
 
Objective  
 
1 To provide for effective coordination of civil defence planning, preparation, response and recovery 

measures in the Bay of Plenty region. 
 

Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To maintain an operational regional civil defence plan and organisation. 
 
1.2 To ensure effective civil defence coordination with the Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency 

Management (CDEM), neighbouring regions and the constituent districts of the Bay of Plenty 
region. 

 
1.3 To promote the effective integration of natural hazards information with all other regional planning 

and implementation measures. 
 

Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 A renewed regional civil defence plan was developed and discussed with the civil defence officers 

and managers of the constituent territorial authorities over the financial year, and submitted and 
approved by the Regional Civil Defence Committee at its meeting of 27 June. An internal 
headquarters exercise and a number of functional refresher courses were held to ensure that the 
nominated civil defence headquarters staff of the council remain familiar with their emergency 
management tasks.  

 
1.2 Routine contact is maintained with the Ministry of CDEM by inviting attendance of a liaison officer 

at regular meetings of the civil defence officers of the region. Five such meetings were held during 
the financial year. A storm scenario exercise was held in November, involving all the districts of the 
region.  

 
1.3 The regional civil defence officer regularly commented on and contributed to aspects of district 

planning and plans involving natural hazards. Work commenced on initiating a tsunami study to be 
carried out jointly with Environment Waikato, covering the eastern Coromandel and Bay of Plenty 
coastline.  

 
 

Civil Defence 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(15)  Direct Income (19) (15) 
(108)  General Rates (83) (83) 
(109)  Investment Income (151) (148) 
(232)  Total Revenue (253) (246) 

      
  Expenditure    

192  Operating Expenses 238  242 
      

(40)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (15) (4) 
 



Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
2001/2002  
34 

Regulation & Monitoring 
 
Statement of Objectives and Service Performance 
 
Description of Activity – Regulation & Monitoring’s overall objective is to implement Council’s statutory 
regulatory responsibilities including consents, permits, bylaws, compliance monitoring, natural resource 
monitoring and enforcement, under the Resource Management Act 1991, Soil Conservation and Rivers 
Control Act 1941, Harbours Act 1950 and Maritime Transport Act 1994.  Specific technical investigations are 
also undertaken. 
 
Regulatory Services 
 
Objectives 
 
1 To efficiently administer, evaluate and issue resource use consents and bylaw approvals with 

appropriate conditions, in accordance with legislation and Council policy. 
 
2 To carry out compliance and impact monitoring of consents and bylaws in order to ensure 

compliance with specified conditions and assess environmental effects. 
 
3 To ensure implementation of Regional Plan policy. 
 
4 To design and undertake projects for the purpose of obtaining specific information required for 

developing policy and guidelines for the management of the region’s natural resources. 
 
5 To ensure complaints are investigated within appropriate time periods. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To process received applications within statutory time limits in order to uphold the requirements of 

the Resource Management Act 1991. 
 
2.1 To ensure compliance by holders of resource consents by carrying out monitoring and reporting on 

resource consents in accordance with Council policy, with a particular emphasis on compliance 
monitoring of air discharges, sediment generating activities, geothermal consents, contaminant 
discharges to water and water users in catchments with abstraction pressures within a budget of 
$913,200. 

 
3.1 To implement the objectives, policies and rules of the On Site Effluent Treatment Regional Plan 

including use of the database for systems which require clean out and maintenance under the 
provisions of the plan in consultation with the district councils. 

 
4.1 To continue work with district councils to collect, store and facilitate safe disposal of agrichemicals 

within a budget of $52,400. 
 
4.2 To ensure that Council is fully informed of contaminated sites in the region by collating data in 

cooperation with the district councils. 
 
5.1 To minimise adverse effects of unauthorised activities on the environment by responding to urgent 

complaints as soon as possible and non urgent complaints where appropriate within five working 
days within a budget of $213,900. 

 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 A total of 766 resource consent applications (including 34 withdrawals) were processed in 

accordance with leglisation and Council policy. For non-notified applications 96% of land use 
consents, 98% of coastal consents, 100% of air discharge consents, 98% of water permits and 
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99% of discharge permits were processed within the timeframes specified in the Resource 
Management Act 1991. 

 
Overall non-notified consent compliance with timeframes was 98%. 
 
A total of 100% of notified applications received in the year were processed within timeframe. 

 
2.1 A total of 15 compliance/impact monitoring reports were completed and presented to Council in line 

with Council policy at a gross cost of $774,530 This monitoring included air discharges, minor 
dams, earthworks, irrigators, various discharges, implementation of the On-Site Effluent Treatment 
Regional Plan and Foreshore Structures in the Rotorua Lakes area. 

 
3.1 During the 2001-2002 annual plan period the inspection and certification of on-site effluent 

treatment systems within identified contaminated areas was continued with information gained, 
added to the database. Updated information from this database has been provided to district 
councils as requested. Auditing of inspections carried out by certified inspectors was also 
undertaken. All these matters were reported to Council at various times throughout the year. 

 
During the 2001-2002 annual plan period property owners were advised when their next inspection 
was due. Some systems have already been inspected for the second round. 
 

4.1 In cooperation with district councils in the region, approximately 8000kg of unwanted chemicals 
was collected this year.  Total net expenditure was $49,417 
 

4.2 Undertook screening investigation of 36 potentially contaminated sites in the region where dioxin 
was among the potential contaminants. Continued work with district councils for identifying 
potentially contaminated sites. 

 
Completed involvement in Sustainable Management Fund project to develop guidelines for 
consistent management of information relating to potentially contaminated sites. 

 
5.1 A total of 1,325 complaints were received. Of the 64 which were urgent, all were responded to 

within 24 hours. Non-urgent complaints were, where appropriate, investigated within five working 
days. The total net cost was $239,682. 

 
 
 

Regulatory Services 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(1,210)  Direct Income (1,299) (1,434) 
(712)  General Rates (633) (637) 
(723)  Investment Income (1,156) (1,130) 

(2,645)  Total Revenue (3,088) (3,201) 
      
  Expenditure    

2,824  Operating Expenses 3,130  3,139 
      

179  Net cost(surplus) of operations 42  (62) 
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Natural Environment Regional Monitoring (NERMN) 
 
Objectives  
 
1 The collection of environmental data (including groundwater, surface water, air quality, 

meteorological and coastal survey); to process and store data; and the maintenance of 
Environment Bay of Plenty ’s flood monitoring systems. 

 
2 To assist with the design and undertaking of appropriate monitoring programmes and assist with 

the preparation of individual monitoring reports. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To maintain the standard of environmental recording sites and equipment by upgrading and 

replacing general Environmental Data Services monitoring equipment as recommended in the 
Strategic Review of Environmental Instrumentation, within a budget of $38,000. 

 
1.2 To ensure Operations staff and the public are provided with accurate and timely warnings by 

maintaining Environment Bay of Plenty’s flood monitoring system to a level whereby at least 90% 
of all flood monitoring sites are operational at any one time, and whereby individual sites are 
operational for at least 90% of the time. 

 
1.3 To provide a 24 hour, 365 day, flood monitoring service within a budget of $73,200, in order that 

Operations staff may issue public flood information as appropriate. 
 
1.4 To provide information that will assist in the processing of abstraction applications and manage 

streams under abstraction pressure by collecting flow data from the priority areas highlighted in the 
1996 Bay of Plenty Low Flows Summary report, as climatic conditions permit. 

 
1.5 To provide information that will assist in the processing of abstraction applications, the 

establishment of suitable building set-back zones, and the monitoring of the downstream effects of 
activities such as dredging and dumping by monitoring all coastal erosion sites at least once in the 
2001/2002 annual plan period, monitoring two selected beaches (approximately 10 sites) quarterly, 
within a budget of $17,500. 

 
1.6 To maintain the quantity and quality of environmental monitoring databases by collecting and 

processing environmental data from continuous monitoring stations (including groundwater, lake 
level, stream level, stream flow, meteorological, air quality and temperature), providing data with 
less than four weeks missing record from any one site in any one year. 

 
2.1 To prepare and present a report on the results of river and stream monitoring by April 2002 to allow 

management of the single resource in a sustainable manner. 
 
2.2 To report on the results of groundwater monitoring in the Bay of Plenty by June 2002 within a 

budget of $67,600 so that groundwater quality and quantity can be sustained. 
 
2.3 To prepare and present a report by June 2002 on the results of river stream monitoring to show the 

trends that have occurred over the past 10 years and indicate management options for the future. 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 A selection of general monitoring equipment was replaced or upgraded with a particular focus on 

replacing a number of older technology flood warning radio telephones and dataloggers, and the 
upgrade of the Te Matai and Mangorewa cableway structures. Total expenditure was $39,448. 

 
1.2 The flood monitoring system performed well during the year with at least 93% of sites operational 

at any one time. An analysis of performance indicates that four sites were down at different times of 
the year. Two rainguages (Koranga and Tutaetoko) were unavailable for periods of up to eight 



Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

 
2001/2002 

37 

weeks each, however the flood monitoring network was not compromised as neighbouring 
raingauges were operational during this time. 

 
1.3 The flood monitoring service was provided throughout the year with 21 calls being made to 

Operations staff on flood alert and related matters. The net cost of the flood monitoring service was 
$72,916. 

 
1.4 The 2001/2002 low flow gauging programme has continued to focus on establishing low flows 

associated with the Habitat Project with the objective of establishing in-stream minimum flow 
requirements. During the summer period a total of 299 flow gaugings were carried out as part of 
that project. 

 
1.5 Beach profiling tasks were completed in accordance with the objective. Expenditure for the year 

was $15,227. 
 
1.6 A summary of data collection rates indicates that Environmental Data Services achieved a mean 

data collection rate of 96.9% with a high of 100% at 42 of the 70 sites. Low data capture rates were 
recorded at Lake Tarawera (81.1%) and Rangitaiki at Thornton (83.1%). 

 
2.1 Environmental Report 2001/23 was completed and presented to Council in July 2001. 
 
2.2 The groundwater monitoring report has not been completed yet, as groundwater sampling is 

continuing. Net expenditure to date: $60,732. 
 
2.3 Environmental Report 2001/12 Natural Environment Regional Monitoring Network: Bay of Plenty 

Rivers Water Quality (1989 – 2000) was completed and presented to Council. 
 

 
Natural Environment Regional Monitoring (NERMN) 

 
Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 

 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(278)  Direct Income (302) (292) 
(761)  General Rates (595) (598) 
(773)  Investment Income (1,086) (1,062) 

(1,812)  Total Revenue (1,983) (1,952) 
      
  Expenditure    

1,738  Operating Expenses 1,860  1,816 
      

(74)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (123) (136) 
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Environmental Investigations (Projects) 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To provide Council with a sound scientific basis for resource management decisions through the 

efficient execution of studies of set duration. 
 
2 To undertake projects aimed at providing Council with advice on the best practicable option to deal 

with resource management problems 
 
3 To undertake appropriate investigations aimed at providing Council with information on significant 

resource management and environmental issues which can be addressed by policies or decisions 
of Council. 

 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To report on the results of the Lake Rerewhakaaitu Special Project by December 2001 so that 

future management options can be assessed. 
  
2.1 To report on the findings of the Rotorua Lakes Nutrient Budget Review by June 2002 so that policy 

can be developed in the ‘Lakes Strategy’ for sustainable management of the Rotorua Lakes. 
 
3.1 To report on methods of lake restoration by June 2002 so that options can be proposed where 

necessary in the ‘Lakes Strategy’, for improving the quality of lake waters. 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Project brought forward, Environmental Report 2001/15 completed and presented to Council in 

June 2001.  
 
2.1 Reported on nutrient input budget to Lake Okareka 11 June 2002. 
 
3.1 The report ‘Lakes Restoration Study Tour’ (Environmental Report 2002/02) completed March 2002.  
 

Environmental Investigations (Projects) 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(50)  Direct Income (17) (25) 
(205)  General Rates (272) (274) 
(202)  Investment Income (497) (487) 
(457)  Total Revenue (786) (786) 

      
  Expenditure    

640  Operating Expenses 741  765 
      

183  Net cost(surplus) of operations (45) (21) 
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Navigation, Safety and Oil Pollution 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To efficiently administer regulations in accordance with the General Harbour Regulations (Ship, 

Cargo and Dock Safety) 1968; General Harbour Regulations (Nautical and Miscellaneous) 1968; 
Local Government Amendment Act No. 3 1999 Maritime Transport Act 1994; Marine Pollution Act 
1974; Resource Management Act 1991; Regional Council Harbour Bylaws and Council policy for 
navigable waters under Council’s jurisdiction. 

 
2 To carry out monitoring of regulations and bylaws in order to ensure compliance.  To prepare and 

implement appropriate monitoring and publicity programmes. 
 
3 To ensure the approved level of oil pollution control is implemented. 
 
4 To assist Council in developing policy for the undertaking of appropriate functions. 
 
5 To facilitate the recreational use of the navigable waters under Council’s control. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To implement a minimum of 30 staff harbour patrols and 30 warden harbour patrols within the 

region’s navigable waters over the summer. 
 
1.2 To remove, where appropriate, obstacles affecting navigation and safety within the region’s 

navigable waters within 24 hours of receiving a complaint. 
 
2.1 To prepare and circulate the aquatic guides prior to 1 December 2001 to complement the Council’s 

navigation and safety responsibilities. 
 
3.1 To respond immediately to an oil spill in line with the Tier II control plan and ensure the plan is 

maintained to the satisfaction of the Maritime Safety Authority (MSA). 
 
4.1 To ensure the maintenance of navigation aids and signage is completed by 1 December 2001. 
 
5.1 To ensure that the moorings are managed, the mooring register is up to date and that the mooring 

inspection requirement is implemented. 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Due to inclement weather conditions only 20 patrol days by wardens were carried out in Tauranga 

harbour. 
 
 Thirty staff patrols were carried out in Tauranga over the period. 
 
1.2 All reports of items such as drifting logs, boats that have broken adrift from moorings etc. were 

investigated and dealt with within 24 hours. 
 
2.1 Aquatic Guides were distributed prior to 1 December and within budget. 
 
3.1 All reports of oil spills were investigated by the harbourmaster or by the maritime field officer within 

thirty minutes of notification. The tier two plan was updated. 
 
4.1 Signage is an ongoing maintenance item and is presently being undertaken by the Environmental 

Data Services department on behalf of the Maritime Manager. The annual navigation aid 
maintenance programme was completed by 1 December 2001. 
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5.1 The mooring register was regularly updated as changes occurred. A full list was produced monthly 
for officers’ information. The mooring inspection requirement was introduced as stated on 1 July 
1999, to date approximately 96-98% compliance achieved.  

 
 
 

Navigation, Safety and Oil Pollution 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(170)  Direct Income (190) (163) 
(139)  General Rates (189) (190) 
(141)  Investment Income (344) (337) 
(450)  Total Revenue (723) (690) 

      
  Expenditure    

404  Operating Expenses (686) 681 
      

(46)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (37) (9) 
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Environmental Planning 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To promote the sustainable management of the natural and physical resources of the Bay of Plenty 

region including the quality of air, coastal resources, water and land resources, soil resources, the 
on-site discharge of septage into the environment, the resources of the Tarawera River and its 
catchment, gravel resources, the Rotorua geothermal field by the preparation and implementation 
of regional plans. 

 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To conclude Environment Court proceedings and achieve an operative Regional Coastal 

Environment Plan, Regional Land Management Plan, Regional River Gravel Management Plan, 
Regional Plan for the Tarawera River Catchment and Regional Air Plan. 

 
1.2 To release a proposed Regional Water and Land Plan for public submission by December 2001. 
 
1.3 To implement Environment Bay of Plenty’s operative regional plans including the Rotorua 

Geothermal Regional Plan, On-site Effluent Treatment Regional Plan and Transitional Regional 
Plan. 

 
1.4 To complete plan reviews and changes to the On-site Effluent Treatment Regional Plan and 

Transitional Regional Plan. 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Environment Court proceedings with regard to the Regional Land Management Plan and Regional 

River Gravel Management Plan have been concluded. Proceedings with regard to the Regional 
Coastal Environment Plan, Regional Plan for the Tarawera River Catchment and Regional Air Plan 
are continuing. 

 
1.2 The Proposed Regional Water and Land Plan was released for public submission on 

19 February 2002. 
 
1.3 Councils operative plans are being implemented. 
 
1.4 The formal requirements for the review of the Transitional Regional Plan has been completed. The 

change to the On-site Effluent Treatment Plan has reached formal stages. 
 

Environmental Planning 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(32)  Direct Income (27) (17) 
(532)  General Rates (456) (459) 
(542)  Investment Income (833) (814) 

(1,106)  Total Revenue (1,316) (1,290) 
      
  Expenditure    

1,122  Operating Expenses 1,190  1,265 
      

16  Net cost(surplus) of operations (126) (25) 
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Operational Services 
 
Statement of Objectives and Service Performance 
 
Description of Activity – Operational Services’ overall objective is to implement Council’s statutory and 
policy obligations concerning rivers and soil conservation, plant pest control and animal pest control in order 
to achieve outcomes within delegation and budget. 
 
Biosecurity - Plant Pests 
 
Objectives 
 
1 To effectively administer the Council’s plant pest management policies under the Biosecurity Act 

1993. 
 
2 To reduce geographical spread, density and areas of infestation of total control plant pests. 
 
3 To determine extent and abundance of high risk plant pests. 
 
4 To participate in research programmes relevant to the region. 
 
5 To review, develop and implement methodologies and measures for monitoring plant pests and 

their effects. 
 
6 To monitor the effectiveness of the Regional Plant Pest Management Strategy. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To provide a high quality information and advisory service and to assist occupiers in preparing an 

estimated 1,500 control programmes on locations with infestations of total control or boundary 
control plant pests. 

 
2.1 To monitor the effectiveness of control for ten total control plant pests. 
 
3.1 To collect survey site data on high risk plant pests, record on plant pest database and evaluate risk 

of individual plants. 
 
4.1 To remain a member of the Landcare Research Biological Control Programme and to participate in 

redistribution of and establishment of biocontrol agents. 
 
5.1 To record data on the plant pest database and to report annually on plant pest management 

programmes. 
 
6.1 Report to the Council annually on the effectiveness of the Regional Plant Pest Management 

Strategy. 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Provided high quality information, advisory services and assistance to occupiers in preparing 3,571 

control programmes. Approximately 7,500 fact sheets were distributed to occupiers via field days, 
displays and information racks in garden centres and stock and station outlets. 

 
2.1 A total of 3,899 inspections were undertaken for 14 Total Control plant pests. Infestations of African 

feather grass, nassella tussock, Senegal tea, spartina, variegated thistle, white edged nightshade 
and yellow flag were effectively controlled and infestations substantially reduced. Infestations of 
boneseed, nodding and plumeless thistles and old man’s beard were generally well controlled and 
densities reduced. 
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 Parrots feather, wild ginger and woolly nightshade were effectively controlled in many situations. 
These plants were well established in the region and unlikely to be eradicated. 

 
3.1 Survey site data was collected and recorded for 27 High Risk plant pests (536 sites) and an 

additional 36 invasive plants (1,118 sites) including wild kiwifruit. Trial work monitoring occurred at 
wild kiwifruit, lantana, cathedral bells, banana passionfruit, jasmine, blue morning glory and 
climbing spindle berry sites. 

 
4.1 Environment Bay of Plenty continued to be a partner for biological control with Landcare Research. 

Gorse colonial hard shoot moths, gorse thrips and mistflower gall flies were released at various 
sites. Contributed to further feasibility studies for banana passionfruit, barberry, bridal veil creeper, 
moth plant, pampas, privet and wild ginger. 

 
5.1 Over 6,000 plant infestations or property inspections have been recorded on the plant pest 

database. Annual reports are near completion. 
 
6.1 Council received detailed 12-weekly reports regarding the plant pest function. A substantial 

analysis of the Regional Plant Pest Management Strategy was produced as part of the five yearly 
strategy review process which began in March 2002. 

 
 

Biosecurity - Plant Pests 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(49)  Direct Income (47) (40) 
(586)  General Rates (446) (449) 
(595)  Investment Income (815) (796) 

(1,230)  Total Revenue (1,308) (1,285) 
      
  Expenditure    

1,217  Operating Expenses 1,201  1,238 
      

(13)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (107) (47) 
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Biosecurity - Animal Pests 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To effectively administer Council’s animal pest management policies under the Biosecurity Act 

1993. 
 
2 To work with the Animal Health Board in maintaining the Bay of Plenty region’s current bovine Tb 

free status. 
 
3 To reduce and maintain possum numbers in identified priority areas to a level where values being 

affected are protected. 
 
4 To control spread and density of other identified animal pests to levels where environmental and 

other values are protected. 
 
5 To review, develop and implement methodologies and measures for monitoring animal pests and 

their effects on the environment. 
 
6 To monitor the effectiveness of the Regional Animal Pest Management Strategy. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To provide a high quality information, advisory and monitoring service; and to assist land occupiers 

to prepare and implement control programmes. 
 
2.1 The region to be free of any declaration of Tb as issued by Agri Quality New Zealand. 
 
3.1 To develop and report on a regional priority ranking system for areas requiring possum control and 

to progressively coordinate and support land occupier control programmes in these areas in 
accordance with Council policy. 

 
4.1 In conjunction with 3 above, to identify regional priority sites for other identified animal pests and to 

support land occupier control programmes on these sites in accordance with Council policy. 
 
5.1 To gather and record data on the animal pests database and to report annually on animal pest 

management programmes. 
 
6.1 Report to the Council annually on the effectiveness of the Regional Animal Pest Management 

Strategy. 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Animal Pest staff provided a high quality information and advisory service to landowners utilizing a 

range of fact sheets, technical reports and updated research findings. A high quality monitoring 
service was also provided, utilizing the most up to date research findings and supporting reporting 
techniques. A range of ratepayer meetings, field and training days were facilitated by staff and a 
wide range of events such as possum hunts, A&P Shows etc were attended. 

 
2.1 The Bay of Plenty Region remains officially Bovine Tb free. 
 
 Continued liaison maintained with Environment Waikato and Hawkes Bay Regional Council to 

facilitate the Animal Health Board programme for eradication of Tb in the East Taupo district. 
Excellent field results achieved and five year programme on track. 

 
3.1 Priority ranking system completed for natural areas in region. Continued support and coordination 

of landowner control programmes focusing on identified priority areas. 
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4.1 Priority sites identified and ongoing programmes established and maintained for the full suite of 
animal pests within the Regional Animal Pest Management Strategy. Ongoing support of 
landowner programmes on these sites provided in accordance with Council policy. 

 
5.1 Staff contributed to development of animal pest database, base data recording continued. 

Developed ‘stand alone’ Ferret database for bovine Tb component. 
 
6.1 Council received detailed 12-weekly reports regarding the animal pest function. A substantial 

analysis of the Regional Animal Pest Management Strategy was produced as part of the five yearly 
strategy review process which began in March 2002. 

 
 

Biosecurity – Animal Pests 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(743)  Direct Income (1,110) (1,158) 
(673)  General Rates (402) (405) 
(682)  Investment Income (734) (719) 

(2,098)  Total Revenue (2,246) (2,282) 
      
  Expenditure    

1,995  Operating Expenses 2,276  2,259 
      

(103)  Net cost(surplus) of operations 30  (23) 
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Land Management 
 
Objectives 
 
1 To provide effective and professional soil conservation services so that Environment Bay of Plenty 

is able to fulfil its functions under the Resource Management Act 1991 and the Soil Conservation 
and Rivers Control Act 1941 regarding control of the use of land for the purpose of soil 
conservation, the conservation of soil resources and the prevention of damage by erosion. 

 
2 To provide soil conservation services in accordance with the policies in the Regional Policy 

Statement and Regional Land Management Plan to promote the sustainable management of land. 
 
3 To ensure that landowners are maintaining soil conservation works in accordance with the 

conditions of their formal agreements. 
 
4 To facilitate community coast care and land care programmes for the protection and enhancement 

of the physical environment of the Bay of Plenty. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1 To carry out land resource investigations and encourage the application of erosion control works, 

sustainable management systems, best management practices and prudent land use. 
 
2 To implement policy on regional rules (permitted activities) in accordance with the Regional Land 

Management Plan, measured by a default rate (where retrospective soil conservation consents 
become required) of less than 10 per annum. 

 
3  Commence/continue implementation of soil intactness and soil health monitoring in the region. 
 
4.1 Establish and maintain coast care and land care groups throughout the region. 
 
4.2 Promote the concept of land care and coast care though education, advocacy and extension. 
 
4.3 Work in close partnership with the NZ Landcare Trust. 

 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1 Land resource investigations carried out, riparian planning practices reviewed, report in preparation 

including recommendations and further studies. Continued delivery of advisory services to 
landowners, development and implementation of Environmental Programmes and 
development/delivery of educational resources. Two land management videos produced and 
distributed, while staff undertook a number of presentations, displays and school/community 
plantings. 

 
2 Staff provided advice to landowners throughout the region regarding permitted activities in 

accordance with the Regional Land Management Plan. One retrospective resource consent 
application was required. 

 
3 Summarised results received for previous three year’s soil health sampling for ‘500 soils’ project. 

Awaiting statistical analysis at a national scale before continuing sampling. 
 
4.1 Coast care groups continue to establish, with a total of 22 groups now operating throughout the 

entire length of the Bay of Plenty coastline, from Waihi Beach in the west to Cape Runaway in the 
east. Landcare groups (including stream care, estuary care etc) continue to grow rapidly. Some 
have developed as extensions to Environmental Enhancement Fund projects. 

 
4.2 The care concept is being promoted at every opportunity through production of brochures/fact 

sheets, positive news media stories, and by working with community and user groups, particularly 
through our partnership with the NZ Landcare Trust. 
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4.3 Our partnership with the NZ Landcare Trust continues to develop well, with the Trust having a 
facilitation/coordination role and Environment Bay of Plenty staff providing technical support. The 
partnership is currently focused primarily on the Tauranga/Western Bay of Plenty area, with 
particular emphasis on the Tauranga Harbour catchment. 

 
 
 

Land Management 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(75)  Direct Income (73) (73) 
(406)  General Rates (266) (268) 
(412)  Investment Income (487) (477) 
(893)  Total Revenue (826) (818) 

      
  Expenditure    

964  Operating Expenses 777  803 
      

71  Net cost(surplus) of operations (49) (15) 
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Engineering and Land Resources Investigations 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To provide professional engineering advice to the public and Environment B.O.P departments in 

the areas of hydrological analysis and river and drainage engineering. 
 
2 To carry out engineering and design projects and investigations of a technical nature. 
 
3 To undertake a programme of land resource projects that have been identified on a priority 

schedule. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To respond to all requests for design advice within five working days. 
 
2.1 To provide design advice and administer the mining of shingle and sand resources, under contract 

to the Regulation & Monitoring Department, such that mining maintains good river alignments and 
stability. 

 
2.2 Within a net budget of $520,500 complete 29 predetermined engineering and design projects by 

June 2002 including: 
 
 (a) Develop guidelines for gravel extraction operations $15,000. 
 (b) Review Kaituna drain capacities $28,200 
 (c) Produce flood-forecasting model on the Rangitaiki River $18,800 
 (d) Evaluate stability of Whakatane River stopbanks $27,800 
 (e) Evaluate  Kaituna  Reclassification $89,700. 
 (f) Complete Waioeka-Otara reclassification $41,000 
 (g) Quantitative investigation of seiche on Lake Rotomahana and scoping report on 

sedimentation problems in Rotorua lakes $30,400. 
 (h) Complete Whakatane Floodplain Management Strategy $50,000. 
 (i) Review Utuhina and Wangaehe hydraulic models $30,200 
 (j) Review Tarawera hydraulic model $30,600 
 (k) Investigate fluvial processes in the lower Whakatane and Rangitaiki Rivers $32,300 
 (l) Investigate erosion created by jetboats $29,000. 
 (m) To continue to collect data on extreme levels and refine estimates and to investigate wave 

run-up levels and vulnerability of settlements in the eastern Bay of Plenty $34,700. 
 (n) Investigate and construct control structure at Thornton Lagoon and report on hydrological 

performance and issues of Bregmans, Awaiti, Kohika, Matata wetlands $37,700. 
 (o) Commence region-wide 1st order benchmark survey $30,000. 
 (p) Commence micro-seismic zoning of Whakatane $37,200. 
 
 
3 To complete the programme detailed below within the timetable for 2001/2002 and within budget. 

 
  Net Cost 
a) Regional Pest Management Strategies 28,400 
b) Sustainable Land Management 50,400 
c)  Grazing and Cultivation Impacts  26,200 
d)  Riparian Retirement Management Assessment 22,900 
e) Soil Mapping 45,700 

  $173,600 
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Performance 2001/2002 
 

1.1 Approximately 80% of requests for design advice were responded to under five working days 
despite significant staff shortages. 

 
2.1 One hundred percent of design advice provided such that extraction of gravel maintained good 

river alignments and stability. 
 
2.2 Significant staff shortages (60 week equivalent) meant only 70% of staff resources were available. 

In terms of number of projects 70% were completed representing 72% of budgeted scope 
(weighted by budgeted cost). Total net cost of $300,503 being 58% of the net budget. Individual 
comments are as follows: 

 
a) Insufficient resource to develop gravel guidelines. Project scoped. Only $311 spent. 
b) Around 70% of Kaituna Drain capacity model formulated and design scenarios completed at 

total cost of $12,955 including $1,900 extra modeling on Edgecumbe drainage. 
c) Work focused on upgrading and development of user-friendly software for Waioeka and 

Whakatane models. Both these models predicted moderate real-time event to within 5%. Lack 
of available data seriously handicapped Rangitaiki model. Total expenditure $25,317. 

d) Two draft reports completed in accordance with total project scope for Whakatane River 
stopbanks stability investigations. Cost of $19,426. 

e) Reclassification completed on programme and within budget at total cost of $83,059. 
f) Reclassification completed on programme, but over budget at cost of $57,862 resulting from 

the reclassification analysis proving complex due to review and upgrading of the river scheme 
and local drainage/flooding issues. 

g) Lack of resources meant that only the assemblage of the database for the Lake Rotomahana 
study was completed. Additional consultation and modeling was required to progress the 
Environment Court appeal on the Lake Okareka discharge structure. Modelling commenced on 
the Ohau Channel weir. Expenditure of $16,332. 

h) The Whakatane Floodplain Management Strategy has been parked until a Project Engineer is 
appointed. Expenditure of $15,410 is on budget for works completed. 

i) The Utuhina model was completed. Cost of $26,602 being above the $21,000 component for 
this part of the activity. 

j) Cross-section survey and calibration flood profiles completed for Tarawera River. Modelling 
deferred to 2002/2003 as shortage of environmental engineering resources.  

k) Work focused on finalising studies on the Whakatane and Whirinaki. These projects have 
provide difficult and expenditure of $28,502 is above budget for these components. 

l) Jet boat erosion study completed on programme and below budget at $8,355. 
m) Contribution to joint study with Opotiki District Council completed. Scoped project and 

completed 30% of wave runup estimates within budget at $20,238. 
n) Control structure constructed at Matata. Draft report close to completion on Bregmans, Awaiti, 

Kohika and Matata wetlands. Monitoring installed at Awakaponga wetland and adjacent to 
Kaituna wetland. Total cost of $66,110 over budget due to installation of improvements to level 
control structure on Tumurau Lagoon, to meet very necessary OSH standards. 

o) Region-wide first order benchmark survey commenced and Kohi Point – Otamarakau 
verification completed. Cost of $3,977. 

p) Micro-seismic zoning of Whakatane scoped and presentations made to Whakatane District 
Council. Project deferred to enable district council political and staff acceptance. Substituted 
project contribution to micro-seismic zoning for Western Bay of Plenty lifelines. Expenditure 
$11,960. 
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3 Completed the programme detailed below within the timetable for 2001/2002 and within budget. 
 
a) Regional Pest Management Strategies 50,842 
b) Sustainable Land Management 43,684 
c)  Grazing and Cultivation Impacts  5,070 
d)  Riparian Retirement Management Assessment 14,410 
e) Soil Mapping 31,111 

  $145,117 
 
 

 
Engineering and Land Resources Investigations 

 
Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 

 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(4)  Direct Income (54) (17) 
(410)  General Rates (385) (388) 
(418)  Investment Income (703) (689) 
(832)  Total Revenue (1,142) (1,094) 

      
  Expenditure    

820  Operating Expenses 897  1,062 
      

(12)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (245) (32) 
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Property Works 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To design and implement Environmental Programmes, addressing priorities for soil and water 

conservation and the protection and enhancement of indigenous biodiversity, in partnership with 
landowners and with support from relevant agencies. 

 
2 To ensure that landowners maintain environmental protection works in accordance with their 

Environmental Programmes and associated covenants. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 To prepare at least 15 new Environmental Programmes in accordance with regional priorities and 

where possible with support from district councils and other relevant agencies. 
 
2.1 To ensure, through regular inspections and required follow up, that maintenance of environmental 

protection works is undertaken in accordance with conditions of Environmental Programmes and 
associated covenants. 

 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Completed preparation of five Environmental Programmes with another 41 in preparation. 

Proposals that were commenced as Environmental Plans now being transferred to Environmental 
Programme format. 

 
1.2 Maintenance of environmental protection works is being regularly monitored and reported on. 

Remedial works have been identified and undertaken by landowners. Majority of works involve 
minor fence maintenance. 

 
 

Property Works 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(101)  Direct Income (136) (388) 
(254)  General Rates (361) (364) 
(256)  Investment Income (659) (646) 
(611)  Total Revenue (1,156) (1,398) 

      
  Expenditure    

276  Operating Expenses 1,040  1,386 
      

(335)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (116) (12) 
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River and Drainage Schemes – Summary 
 
 

The Statement of Cost of Services below provides a summary of the Statements for the five major river and 
drainage schemes detailed in the following pages – Kaituna Catchment Control; Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers, 
Whakatane-Waimana Rivers; Waioeka-Otara Rivers and Rangitaiki Drainage. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

River and Drainage Schemes – Summary 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(202)  Direct Income (218) (147) 
(3,080)  Separate Rates (3,227) (3,251) 

(145)  General Rates (138) (138) 
(141)  Investment Income (251) (245) 

(3,568)  Total Revenue (3,834) (3,781) 
      
  Expenditure    

4,060  Operating Expenses 3,890  3,483 
      

492  Net cost(surplus) of operations 56  (298) 
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Kaituna Catchment Control Scheme 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To construct, maintain, and operate scheme works within scheme design criteria and ratepayer 

approved budgets. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Within a budget of $129,700 to complete the following capital works projects within time schedules 

and ratepayer approved budgets: 
 
 • Complete Land Compensation Settlements ($5,000) 
 
 • Flood protection works - Borough drain and Ohineangaanga Stream ($89,700) 
 
 • Construction of rock protection works, Maketu ($35,000) 
 
1.2 Complete required scheme maintenance works, to ensure the river and drainage and pumping 

systems at all times fulfil their design criteria and in accordance with Kaituna River Scheme Asset 
Management Plan ($652,200). Expenditure includes provision for the decline in service potential 
(DISP) which is utilised in the funding of loan repayments charges.  

 
1.3 Manage funding of capital works through borrowing at competitive market rates and conditions 

favourable to scheme ratepayers, and in accordance with Local Authority Loans Act 1956 and 
Local Government Act 1974. 

 
1.4 Monitor soil conservation works and maintain lake level control structures to ensure they are 

working in accordance with their designed functions ($138,000). 
 
1.5 Complete projects and investigations including: 
 
 • Computer modelling of various drains in the Kaituna Catchment including Borough and 

Ohineangaanga Drains ($14,200). 
 
 • Differential benefit analysis and reclassification of the Kaituna River Scheme (Stage Two) 

within time schedule and ratepayer approved budget ($89,700). 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Capital Works Projects (Budget 129,700: Actual $119,600) 
 
 • Rock protection works completed at $40,542. Slightly over budget due to a larger than 

expected quantity of rock being required. 
 
 • Flood protection works on Borough Drain and Old Ohineangaanga Stream was partially 

completed ($66,499 expended). Completion of project is awaiting further design advice. 
 
 • Some land compensation issues were progressed ($1,485). 
 
 • Approximately $9,500 of expenditure relates to finishing off two projects from the previous 

financial year. 
 
1.2 River Scheme Maintenance Works (Budget $652,195: Actual $690,638) 
 

Expenditure approximated the Asset Maintenance Plan maintenance programme. Expenditure 
closed approximately $45,000 ahead of budget due in part to urgent canal desilting works being 
required and additional electricity consumption due to wet weather. 
 

1.3 Two new and two redemption loans were raised at competitive rate and in compliance with 
statutory requirements and one loan was repaid on maturity. 
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1.4 Soil Conservation and Lake Level Control (Budget $138,000: Actual $133,472) 
 
 • Soil conservation monitoring ($53,805) – works completed on programme and within budget. 
 
 • Lake level control and UK engineering ($53,065) – Works completed on programme and 

within budget. 
 
 • Upper Kaituna Stream Reviews ($26,602) – Works completed on programme and within 

budget. 
 
1.5 Projects and Investigations (Budget $104,400: Actual $90,086) 
 
 • Drain flow modeling ($5,527) – Modelling 50% completed due to lack of staff resources. 

Resources now available and completion forecast September 2002. 
 
 • Second stage of reclassification project finished on programme and within budget ($83,059). 
 
 
 

Kaituna Catchment Control Scheme 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(98)  Direct Income (111)  (99) 
(634)  Separate Rates (619)  (619) 
(62)  General Rates (48)  (48) 
(63)  Investment Income (87)  (85) 

(857)  Total Revenue (865)  (851) 
      
  Expenditure    

871  Operating Expenses 773  901 
      

14  Net cost(surplus) of operations (92)  50 
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Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers Scheme 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To construct, maintain, and operate scheme works within scheme design criteria and ratepayer 

approved budgets. 
 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Within a budget of $1,091,000 to carry out the following capital works projects within ratepayer 

approved budgets and time schedules: 
 
 • Carry out fourth stage of Rangitaiki-Tarawera Restoration Project ($370,000). 
 
 • Stopbank topping up - Awaiti Canal ($50,000) 
 
 • Carry out toe-loading and toe-drainage works on Edgecumbe stopbanks ($121,000). 
 
 • Stopbank topping up - Kopeopeo West stopbank ($50,000) 
 
 • Carry out restoration works on lower Rangitaiki stopbanks ($500,000). 

 
1.2 Complete required scheme maintenance works to ensure the river scheme works at all times fulfil 

their design criteria in accordance with Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers Scheme Asset Management 
Plan ($536,600).  Expenditure includes provision for the decline in service potential (DISP) which is 
utilised in the funding of loan repayment charges. 

 
1.3 Manage funding of capital work through borrowing at competitive market rates and conditions 

favourable to scheme ratepayers, and in accordance with Local Authority Loans Act 1956 and 
Local Government Act 1974. 

 
1.4 Complete projects within ratepayer approved budgets and time schedules including: 
 
 • Catchment condition survey of Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers catchment within ratepayer 

approved budget and time schedules ($4,700). 
 
 • Computer modelling of flood forecasting for the Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers catchment within 

ratepayer approved budget and time schedules ($10,900). 
 
 • Hydraulic review of the Tarawera River within ratepayer approved budget and time 

schedules ($15,300). 
 
 • Peat settlement survey of the Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers Catchment within ratepayer 

approved budget and time schedules ($1,500). 
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Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Capital Works Projects (Budget $1,091,000:Actual $611,600) 
 
 • The fourth stage of the Rangitaiki-Tarawera Restoration Project was completed at a cost of 

$216,587, the expenditure now categorised as ‘maintenance’. 
 
 • The toe-drainage contract was completed on programme for a cost of $132,116. 
 
 • Lower Rangitaiki stopbank upgrading works ($262,897) – Works are now complete on 

approximately 7 km out of the 11 km required. 
 
 • Topping up of the Awaiti Canal stopbanks was partially completed at year end; no works 

were carried out on the Kopeopeo West stopbanks. 
 
1.2 River Maintenance Works (Budget $536,600: Actual $547,114) 
 

Expenditure approximated the Asset Management Plan maintenance programme. Unbudgeted 
expenditure was incurred on obtaining resource consent for Horomanga River gravel extraction 
($11,600) and miscellaneous other investigations e.g. willow sawfly research. 

 
1.3 One new loan was raised at competitive rates and in compliance with statutory requirements and 

two loans were repaid on maturity. 
 
1.4 Projects and Investigations (Budget $32,900; Actual $9,980) 
 

Expenditure was well underbudget on this sub-programme due to the Tarawera hydraulic review 
and catchment condition survey projects being postponed due to a lack of design staff resources. 
 

Rangitaiki-Tarawera Rivers Scheme 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(10)  Direct Income (18)  (1) 
(656)  Separate Rates (747)  (745) 
(37)  General Rates (35)  (35) 
(34)  Investment Income (63)  (61) 

(737)  Total Revenue (863)  (842) 
      
  Expenditure    

920  Operating Expenses 836  641 
      

183  Net cost(surplus) of operations (27)  (201) 
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Whakatane-Waimana Rivers Scheme 
 
Objective  
 
1 To construct, maintain, and operate the river scheme works within scheme design criteria and 

approved budgets. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Within a budget of $195,000 to carry out the following capital works projects within ratepayer 

approved budgets and time schedules: 
 
 • Kopeopeo East Canal stopbank topping up works ($50,000). 
 • Stopbank topping up - Rewatu and Poroporo Roads ($10,000) 
 • Construction of Mataatua stopbank ($135,000) 
 
1.2 Complete required scheme maintenance works to ensure the river scheme works at all times fulfil 

their design criteria in accordance with Whakatane-Waimana Rivers Scheme Asset Management 
Plan ($519,500).  Expenditure includes provision for the decline in service potential (DISP) which is 
utilised in the funding of loan repayment charges. 

 
1.3 Manage funding of capital work through borrowing at competitive market rates and conditions 

favourable to scheme ratepayers, and in accordance with Local Authority Loans Act 1956 and 
Local Authority Act 1974. 

 
1.4 Carry out projects within ratepayer approved budgets and time scales including: 
 
 • Full condition index survey of the stopbanks on the Whakatane River scheme and to carry 

out seepage and stability analyses at strategic locations ($13,900). 
 
 • Production of design flood levels following the hydraulic review of the Whakatane River 

Scheme within time schedule and ratepayer approved budget ($9,000). 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Capital Works Projects (Budget $195,000: Actual $14,500) 
 
 The major projects in this sub-programme were deferred until 2003 due to the lack of design staff 

resources. 
 
1.2 River Maintenance Works (Budget $519,500: Actual $602,300) 
 
 Expenditure and works approximated the Asset Management Plan maintenance programme with 

the exception being a higher than budgeted amount of flood damage repair works being required. 
Actual expenditure closed approximately $76,000 over budget due to over-expenditures on 
contract works and materials. 

 
1.3 As the major capital project was deferred until 2003 no loans were raised. 
 
1.4 Projects and Investigations (Budget $23,400: Actual $24,653) 
 
 • Draft reports completed on the condition index survey, seepage and stability analysis on the 

Whakatane River stopbanks ($9,713). 
 
 • Design flood levels and flood maps 60% completed (lack staff resource) ($11,701) 
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Whakatane-Waimana Rivers Scheme 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

 
Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(80)  Direct Income (72)  (43) 
(619)  Separate Rates (685)  (685) 
(27)  General Rates (30)  (31) 
(26)  Investment Income (56)  (55) 

(752)  Total Revenue (843)  (814) 
      
  Expenditure    

976  Operating Expenses 793  711 
      

224  Net cost(surplus) of operations (50)  (103) 
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Waioeka-Otara Rivers Scheme 
 
Objective  
 
1 To construct, maintain, and operate river scheme works within scheme design criteria and ratepayer 

approved budgets. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Within a budget $437,000 to carry out the following capital works projects within ratepayer 

approved budgets and time schedules: 
 
 • Rock reinforcement works (Stage 2) on Otara River -  $37,000. 
 • Restoration works of 100 year flood protection (Stage 2) ($400,00). 
 
1.2 Complete required scheme maintenance works to ensure the river scheme works at all times fulfil 

their design criteria ($306,600).  Expenditure includes provision for the decline in service potential 
(DISP) which is utilised in the funding of loan repayment charges. 

 
1.3 Manage funding of capital work through borrowing at competitive market rates and conditions 

favourable to scheme ratepayers, and in accordance with Local Authority Loans Act 1959, and 
Local Government Act 1974. 

 
1.4 Complete design and investigation projects including: 
 
 • Differential rate analysis and reclassification of Waioeka-Otara Rivers Scheme within time 

schedule and ratepayer approved budget  ($41,000). 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Capital Works Project (Budget $437,000: Actual $805,600) 
 

Expenditure closed approximately $368,600 ahead of budget due to an accelerated capital works 
programme being approved by Council on 28 February 2002. 

 
1.2 River Maintenance Works (Budget $306,600: Actual $310,500) 
 

Expenditure and works approximated the Asset Management Plan maintenance programme. 
 
1.3 Three new and one redemption loans were raised at competitive rates and in compliance with 

statutory requirements and two loans were repaid on maturity. 
 
1.4 Projects and Investigations (Budget $41,500: Actual $65,700) 
 

Stage Two of the Reclassification Project closed over budget. This analysis proved complex due to 
review and upgrading of the scheme and local drainage/flooding issues. 
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Waioeka-Otara Rivers Scheme 

  
Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 

 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(4)  Direct Income (3)  (1) 
(317)  Separate Rates (322)  (320) 
(16)  General Rates (15)  (15) 
(17)  Investment Income (28)  (27) 

(354)  Total Revenue (368)  (363) 
      
  Expenditure    

320  Operating Expenses 424  362 
      

(34)  Net cost(surplus) of operations 56  (1) 
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Rangitaiki Drainage Scheme 
 
Objective  
 
1 To provide and maintain an efficient network of drainage channels allowing the continued productive 

use of land within Rangitaiki Drainage District, within drainage scheme design criteria and ratepayer 
approved budgets. 

 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Within a budget of $25,000 to carry out the following capital works within ratepayer approved 

budgets and time schedules. 
 
 • Construction of two floodgates structures for the Omeheu Canal ($25,000). 
 
1.2 Carry out required drainage scheme maintenance work to ensure that the drainage network at all 

times fulfils its design criteria in accordance with Rangitaiki Drainage Scheme Asset Management 
Plan ($493,300). 

 
1.3 Carry out projects within ratepayer-approved budgets and time schedules including: 
 
 • Monitoring grass carp sites (project expansion) in accordance with consent conditions and 

within ratepayer approved budget and time schedule ($19,400). 
 
 • Riparian planting trial (Stage 2) to arrest erosion on Kopeopeo Drain banks within time 

schedule and ratepayer approved budget ($5,600). 
 
 • Peat settlement survey of the Rangitaiki Drainage catchment within ratepayer  approved 

budget and time schedule ($1,500). 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Capital Works Projects (Budget $25,000: Actual $27,400) 
 

Omeheu Canal culverts (2) installed as programmed. Expenditure closed slightly higher than 
budget due to larger than anticipated culverts being required. 

 
1.2 Drainage Maintenance Works (Budget $506,000: Actual $479,200) 
 

Expenditure and works approximated the Asset Management Plan maintenance programme. 
 
1.3 Projects and Investigations (Budget $27,000: Actual $16,200) 
 

Grass carp project expenditure less than budget awaiting longer term trends from trial. Design 
investigation projects expenditure well below budget due to shortage of design staff resources. 
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Rangitaiki Drainage Scheme 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(4)  Direct Income (7)  (2) 
(492)  Separate Rates (518)  (518) 

(0)  General Rates (8)  (8) 
(0)  Investment Income (14)  (14) 

(496)  Total Revenue (547)  (542) 
      
  Expenditure    

484  Operating Expenses 466  515 
      

(12)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (81)  (27) 
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Minor River and Drainage Schemes 
 
Objectives  
 
1 To provide maintenance and administration services to communal pumping stations on Rangitaiki 

Plains, within scheme design criteria and ratepayer approved budgets. 
 
2 To construct and maintain small river and drainage schemes in the Opotiki District, within scheme 

design criteria and ratepayer approved budgets. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Provide a cost effective and timely management and maintenance service to the 34 communal 

pumping schemes ($318,600) 
 
2.1 To carry out required, and ratepayer approved maintenance and repair works on Waiotahi 

Drainage, Waiotahi River, and Huntress Drainage District ($25,100) 
 

 

Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Communal Pumping Schemes (Budget $318,600: Actual $347,000) 
 

Expenditure closed over budget due mainly to high electricity consumption (wet weather) and 
increases in insurance costs. 

 
2.1 Opotiki Drainage Schemes (Amended Budget $33,500: Actual $37,555) 
 
 • Waiotahi Drainage District: Expenditure higher than budget by approximately $1,400 due to 

additional works being approved by the scheme to resolve an internal drainage dispute. 
 
 • Huntress Creek Drainage District: Works completed on programme and within budget. 
 
 • Waiotahi River District (Budget $19,200: Actual $23,500) 
 

The final expenditure budget for the Waiotahi River District was set (together with the other minor 
river and drainage schemes) in December 2001 at $19,100 taking into account the opening 
balance brought forward from the previous financial year. As a result of flood damage repairs the 
actual expenditure closed over budget at $23,500. 

 
Minor River and Drainage Schemes 

 
Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 

 
Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

(6)  Direct Income (7)  (1) 
(363)  Separate Rates (336)  (364) 

(2)  General Rates (2)  (2) 
(2)  Investment Income (3)  (3) 

(373)  Total Revenue (348)  (370) 
      
  Expenditure    

487  Operating Expenses 598  353 
      

114  Net cost(surplus) of operations 250  (17) 
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Community Initiatives 

 
Objectives 
 
1 To provide contestable assistance for environmental projects via an environmental enhancement 

fund available to regional organisations and community groups, and a separate fund available to 
district councils.  

 
2 To provide seed funding for environmental projects. 
 
3 To increase environmental awareness and participation within the Bay of Plenty. 
 
Performance Targets 2001/2002 
 
1.1 Applications are screened and assessed by the Environmental Enhancement Fund Committee in 

accordance with the criteria and timeframes. 
 
1.2 Funding is provided to environmental projects approved by the Finance and Corporate Services 

Committee within the budget allocation. 
 
1.3 Annual monitoring reports of successful projects are presented to the Finance and Corporate 

Services Committee and the community. 
 
 
Performance 2001/2002 
 
1.1 One hundred and thirty four applications were screened and assessed by the Environmental 

Enhancement Fund Committee in accordance with the criteria and within the set timeframes.   
 
1.2 On 29 November 2001 Finance and Corporate Services approved funding for 63 projects.  Funding 

is released on request from the applicant within the budget allocation. 
 
1.3 A monitoring report on all the active projects was presented to the Finance and Corporate Services 

meeting of 18 June 2002.  
  

Community Initiatives 
 

Statement of Cost of Services for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
 

Actual   Actual  Budget 
2001   2002  2002 

($000)   ($000)  ($000) 
  Revenue    

0  Direct Income 0  0 
0  Separate Rates 0  0 
0  General Rates (436) (439) 

(300)  Investment Income (796) (780) 
(300)  Total Revenue (1,232) (1,219) 

      
  Expenditure    

171  Operating Expenses 808  1,344 
      

(129)  Net cost(surplus) of operations (424) 125 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED   COUNCIL COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED
ACTUAL ACTUAL     BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL 

2001 2001     2002 2002 2002 
        $            $  Note       $    $         $ 

      ($000)         ($000)       ($000)   ($000)      ($000) 
  INCOME     

1,745 1,327 Representation  2,078 2,109 1,114
1,012 871 Transport  1,942 2,051 1,559
1,200 914 Resource Policy  1,445 1,579 892

232 180 Civil Defence  246 253 142
2,645 2,297 Regulatory Services  3,201 3,088 2,239
1,812 1,440 Natural Environmental Regional Monitoring  1,952 1,983 1,186

457 359 Environmental Investigations (Projects)  786 786 421
450 382 Navigation, Safety & Oil Pollution  690 723 470

1,106 846 Environmental Planning  1,290 1,316 704
1,230 943 Biosecurity - Plant Pests  1,285 1,308 710
2,098 1,769 Biosecurity - Animal Pests  2,282 2,246 1,707

893 695 Land Management  818 826 469
832 631 Engineering & Land Resource Investigations  1,094 1,142 626
611 488 Property Works  1,398 1,156 671

3,568 3,499 River & Drainage Schemes  3,781 3,834 3,650
300 156 Environmental Enhancement Initiatives  1,219 1,232 647

0 78,241 Subsidiary Income  0 0 111,973
20,192 95,038 Total Income  25,507 25,632 129,180

         
  COST OF SERVICES       

1,686 1,686 Representation   2,146 2,204 2,204
940 940 Transport  1,935 1,969 1,969

1,230 1,230 Resource Policy  1,919 1,517 1,517
192 192 Civil Defence  242 238 238

2,824 2,824 Regulatory Services  3,139 3,130 3,130
1,738 1,738 Natural Environmental Regional Monitoring  1,816 1,860 1,860

640 640 Environmental Investigations (Projects)  765 741 741
404 404 Navigation, Safety & Oil Pollution  681 686 686

1,122 1,122 Environmental Planning  1,265 1,190 1,190
1,217 1,217 Biosecurity - Plant Pests  1,238 1,201 1,201
1,995 1,995 Biosecurity - Animal Pests  2,259 2,276 2,276

964 964 Land Management  803 777 777
820 820 Engineering & Land Resource Investigations  1,062 897 897
276 276 Property Works  1,386 1,040 1,040

4,060 4,060 River & Drainage Schemes  3,483 3,890 3,890
171 171 Environmental Enhancement Initiatives  1,344 808 808

0 46,887 Subsidiary expenditure  0 0 74,141
         

20,279 67,166 Total Cost of Services  25,483 24,424 98,565

(87) 27,872 Net Cost of Services  24 1,208 30,615
  Less Decrease in Asset Revaluation Reserve  0 545 545

(87) 27,872 Operating surplus before taxation    24 663 30,070
0 10,620 Less provision for taxation 17 0 0 13,086

(87) 17,252 Operating surplus after taxation  24 663 16,984
0 10,069 Less share of surplus applicable to Minority Interest 19 0 0 11,652

(87) 7,183 Net Surplus/(Deficit)  24 663 5,332
 

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
 
 

COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED  COUNCIL COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED
ACTUAL ACTUAL   BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL 

2001 2001   2002 2002 2002 
        $            $         $    $         $ 

      ($000)         ($000)       ($000)   ($000)      ($000) 
       

155,136 377,799 Opening Equity  155,578 155,049 392,080 

(87) 7,183 Operating surplus/(deficit) after taxation   24 663 5,332 
0 (92)  Increase/(Decrease) in Revaluation Reserve  0 28275 28,247 

(87) 7,091 Total recognised revenues and expenses  24 28,938 33,579 
        

0 7,190 Plus Increase in Minority Interest\(Decrease)  0 0 (26,714)
        

155,049 392,080 Closing Equity  155,602 183,987 398,945 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2002 
 

COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED  COUNCIL COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED
     BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL 

2001 2001   2002 2002 2002 
        $            $  Note       $    $         $ 

      ($000)         ($000)       ($000)   ($000)      ($000) 
  CURRENT ASSETS     

1,808 4,078 Cash at Bank  2,272 6,550 9,248 
54,605 54,605 Short Term Deposits 9 55,264 51,391 51,391 

2,652 12,273 Accounts Receivable 5 2,110 2,706 18,131 
13 1,706 Advances & Prepayments 6 22 46 2,818 
0 6 Taxation  0 0 6 

130 157 Inventory 7 119 126 2,888 
59,208 72,825 Total Current Assets  59,787 60,819 84,482 

         
  Less: CURRENT LIABLITIES       

0 0 Bank Overdraft  0 0 2 
3,114 10,276 Accounts Payable & Accruals 13 2,994 4,521 18,316 

111 111 Other Sundry Creditors  58 445 445 
95 95 Current Portion of Term Debt  130 130 130 
0 586 Taxation Payable  0 0 75 

3,320 11,068 Total Current Liabilities  3,182 5,096 18,968 

55,887 61,757 Net Working Capital  56,605 55,723 65,514 
         
  NON-CURRENT ASSETS       

8,180 0 Shares - Quayside Holdings Limited 10 8,180 8,180 0 
0 5,475 Advances 8 0 0 4,005 

97,508 440,255 Fixed Assets 12 99,664 127,116 490,911 
0 0 Intangible Assets  0 0 10,698 
2 25,206 Investments 11 2 2 71,750 

105,691 470,936  Total Non-Current Assets  107,846 135,298 577,364 
          
  NON CURRENT LIABILITIES       

6,091 83,143 Term Loans 15 8,543 6,562 185,251 
0 3,552 Deferred Taxation 18 0 0 4,730 

437 438 Employee Entitlements  306 472 472 
0 53,480 National Bank of NZ Ltd 16 0 0 53,480 

6,528 140,613 Total Non-Current Liabilities  8,849 7,034 243,933 
         

155,049 392,080 NET FUNDS EMPLOYED  155,602 183,987 398,945 
         
  Represented By:       

94,805 117,958 Ratepayer's Equity 23 95,661 94,152 122,300 
60,244 151,085 Reserves 14 59,941 89,835 180,322 

         
0 123,037 Plus: MINORITY INTEREST  0 0 96,323 

155,049 392,080 TOTAL EQUITY  155,602 183,987 398,945 
 

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements 

                                                                       
J M Cronin, Chairman J A Jones, Chief Executive 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 

COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED  COUNCIL COUNCIL CONSOLIDATED
ACTUAL ACTUAL    BUDGET ACTUAL ACTUAL 

2001 2001   2002 2002 2002 
        $            $  Note       $    $         $ 

      ($000)         ($000)       ($000)   ($000)      ($000) 
  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
  Cash was provided by (applied to):     

9,517 9,482 Rates  9,574 9,506 9,471 
315 315 Government grants  886 1,025 1,025 

0 8 Taxation Refunded  0 0 6 
2,733 79,695 Receipts from customers  3,824 3,514 112,298 
3,360 0 Dividends received  8,390 8,390 30 
3,622 3,763 Interest  2,828 2,972 3,149 

(17,469) (47,484) Payments to suppliers & employees  (22,855) (20,980) (71,000)
(124) (124) Movement in Agency Accounts  0 218 218 

0 (10,038) Taxes paid  0 0 (12,712)
0 (43) Foreign dividend withholding payments  0 0 (107)

(466) (6,244) Interest on loans  (514) (462) (9,574)
(93) (93) GST  (465) (94) (94)

0 (2,939) Distribution on units  0 0 (2,395)

1,396 26,299 Net cash flow from operating activities 22 1,668 4,089 30,315 
  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES       
  Cash was provided by (applied to):       

356 2,391 Sale of fixed assets  183 135 2,948 
3,111 4,342 Sale of investments-Funds Management Agreement 3,076 6,409 6,799 

0 107 Repayment of advances  0 0 793 
327 327 Sinking Funds uplifted  0 254 254 

(3,547) (6,841) Reinvestment of investment earnings  (3,076) (3,973) (11,573)
(2,290) (11,718) Purchase of fixed assets  (3,782) (3,246) (15,428)

0 (7,500) Rail Services Agreement  0 0 0 
0 0 Investments  0 0 (37,248)
0 0 Purchase Subsidiary  0 0 (28,266)
0 (241) Advances  0 0 (4,379)

(361) (361) Investment in Sinking Fund  0 (495) (495)

(2,404) (19,494) Net cash used in investing activities  (3,599) (916) (86,595)
  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES       
  Cash was provided by (applied to):        

2,000 3,000 Loans raised  1,875 2,172 103,672 
0 385 Proceeds Sale of Treasury Stock  0 0 16 
0 0 Issue New Shares  0 0 133 

(1,993) (1,993) Loan Principal Repaid  (490) (603) (603)
0 0 Repurchase Shares  0 0 (30,083)
0 (7,894) Dividends paid to minority interests  0 0 (8,461)
0 0 Repayment Long Term Debt  0 0 (3,226)

7 (6,502) Net cash provided by financing activities  1,385 1,569 61,448 
(1,002) 302 NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD  (546) 4,742 5,168 

2,809 3,775 Add cash at start of year (1 July 2001)  2,818 1,808 4,078 

1,808 4,078 Balance at end of year (30 June 2002)  2,272 6,550 9,246 

  Represented by:       
1,808 4,078 Cash at bank/Bank Overdraft  2,272 6,550 9,246 

 

The accompanying Notes form part of these Financial Statements 
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Statement of Financial Involvement in LATEs and Other 
Companies or Organisations 
The Council has control over the following entities: 
 
• Quayside Holdings Limited and subsidiaries 
 
Details of financial interests in this entity are detailed in Note 10. 
 
The cost to the above enterprise for the financial interest, finance or financial assistance of the Council is as 
follows: 
 
 Dividends Interest Total 
 2002  2002  2002  
 $000 $000 $000 
 
Subsidiaries 
Quayside Holdings Limited 8,390 0 8,390 
 
 
Total Cost 
 
The provision of financial assistance by Environment Bay of Plenty to this organisation is by share capital. 
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Notes to the Accounts for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 
1 Reporting Entity 
 

The Bay of Plenty Regional Council (Environment Bay of Plenty) was formed on 1 November 1989 
and constituted under the Local Government Act 1974. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are those of the Bay of Plenty Regional Council and its 
subsidiaries. Council is a 100% shareholder in Quayside Holdings Limited (investment company), 
which has a 100% shareholding in Quayside Securities Limited – authorised and issued capital of 
$100.  The principal activity of this company is to act as trustee for the Quayside Unit Trust.  Quayside 
Securities Limited as trustee owns 55.055% of the shares in Port of Tauranga Limited (port company). 
In February 2002 Port of Tauranga Limited cancelled one in every eight shares held, reducing the 
number of shares held by Quayside Securities Limited from 42,107,164 to 36,843,768. In 
consideration, Quayside Securities Limited, as Trustee for Quayside Unit Trust, received $36,843,772. 
 
The accounts for Port of Tauranga Limited for the year to 30 June 2002 consolidate the results of two 
of its subsidiaries: Port of Tauranga Trustee Company Limited 100% and Port of Tauranga Services 
Company Limited 100%. On 12 February 2002 Port of Tauranga Limited acquired 100% of Owens 
Services BOP Limited (log marshalling, materials handling, container maintenance, vessel agency and 
custom broking). 

 
2 Statement of Accounting Policies for the Year Ended 30 June 2002 
 

These financial statements report on all activities of Environment Bay of Plenty for the year ended 
30 June 2002.  This Annual Report was prepared pursuant to section 223E of the Local Government 
Act 1974. 

 
The general accounting policies recognised as appropriate for the measurement and reporting of the 
financial position under the historic cost method, modified by revaluation of certain assets, have been 
used in producing the financial statements. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
accounting standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. Reliance is 
placed on the fact that sufficient funds are available, or will be received, to maintain current operations 
at the current level. 

 
2.1 Principles of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated annual report for the year ended 30 June 2002 is prepared from the accounts of the 
Council and the accounts of its subsidiaries. All accounts used for the consolidation are for the year 
ended 30 June 2002. The purchase method of accounting for the business combinations has been 
used. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
annual report. 

 
2.2 Investment in Associate Companies 
 

The financial statements of associated companies have been reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements on an equity accounting basis which shows the Group’s share of tax paid surpluses in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance and its share of post acquisition increases or 
decreases in net assets, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Subsidiary associated 
companies are Refit New Zealand Limited (33% shareholding – slipway activities); Northport Limited 
(50% shareholding – port); Kinleith Log Stackers Limited (37.5% shareholding – log marshalling); 
Tauranga Container Park Limited (50% shareholding – container maintenance and repair) and Owens 
Net Limited (50% shareholding – internet investment). On 31 March 2002 Port of Tauranga Limited 
sold its 50% share in The Cargo Company Limited to Owens Services BOP Limited. 
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2.3 Fixed Assets Valuation 
 

Council 
 
Land 
 
Land was valued at net current value at 30 June 2002 in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standard (FRS3) by registered valuers Almao & Green Limited, Tauranga and Boyes, Campbell & 
Associates, Whakatane. Restricted land was valued by Valuation New Zealand in June 1993 which is 
deemed cost. 
 
Buildings 
 
Buildings were valued at net current value at 30 June 2002 by registered valuers, Almao & Green 
Limited, Tauranga, and Boyes, Campbell & Associates, Whakatane. 
 
Infrastructural Assets  
 
Infrastructural assets were valued internally as at 30 June 2002 by Environment Bay of Plenty with 
peer review by John Philpot, Registered Valuer, Palmerston North on the following bases: 
 
Structures and Contents – depreciated replacement cost 
Stopbanks – depreciated replacement cost 
Drainage Networks – replacement cost 
Edge Protection Works – replacement cost 
 
Plant and Equipment 
 
Recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
 
Additions and Work in Progress 
 
The cost of purchased fixed assets is the value of the consideration given to acquire the assets and 
the value of other directly attributable costs which have been incurred in bringing the assets to the 
location and condition necessary for their intended service. 
 
The cost of assets constructed includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour on 
the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. 
 
Revaluation Cycle 
 
All valuations are carried out or reviewed by independent qualified valuers and are carried out at least 
5 yearly. Valuations will be undertaken more regularly if necessary to ensure that no individual item of 
property, plant and equipment within a class is including in a valuation that is materially different from 
its fair value. 
 
Leased Assets 
 
Where land is leased, the value of either the Council’s lessors or the lessees interest is included in the 
accounts. 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Land, buildings, harbour improvements, wharves and hardstandings are revalued at Market Value for 
Existing Use for non-specialised operational assets and Optimised Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(ODRC) for specialised assets. The revaluations are conducted by independent registered valuers on 
a systematic basis across the Group so that each asset is included at a valuation undertaken within 
five years. Additions and remaining assets are valued at cost. The valuation was conducted as at 30 
June 1999 by a registered valuer Mr L T Green F.N.Z.I.V Dip Urb Val of Property Works Limited in 
accordance with guidelines prepared by Ernst & Young Real Estate Group. The revaluation increased 
the value of assets by $166 million. 
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2.4 Fixed Assets Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is provided on a straight line or diminishing value at rates calculated to allocate the 
assets’ cost less estimated residual value, over their estimated useful lives. 
 
Council 
 
Category Depreciation Rate Depreciation 

Method 
Depreciation Period 

    
Land Nil N/A N/A 
Buildings 1% – 2.5% Straight Line 40 – 100 years 
Infrastructural Assets:    
Stopbanks 0.2% – 0.3% Straight Line See Below 
Structures 2% Straight Line 50 years 
Drainage Nil N/A N/A 
Edge Protection Nil N/A N/A 
Plant and Equipment 10% – 25% Straight Line 4 – 10 years 

 
The stopbanks are maintained to convey their design floods. However settlement of up to 50% of the 
freeboard will be allowed before stopbank reconstruction is undertaken. Stopbank reconstruction will 
be required on average every 20 years. To account for this, depreciation rates of 0.2% to 0.3% are 
used i.e. after 20 years the stopbanks will have lost 4% to 6% of their value. Establishment of asset 
management plans for all river schemes was completed during 1998. 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Category Depreciation Rate Depreciation 

Method 
Depreciation Period 

    
Land Nil Straight Line N/A 
Buildings 1% – 2.5% Straight Line 33 – 100 years 
Wharves and Hardstanding 1.6% – 10% Straight Line 10 – 60 years 
Plant and Equipment 4% – 33% Straight Line 3 – 33 years 
Wharf Rocks 0.5% - 1.5% Straight Line 150 – 200 years 
Wharf Piles 1.3% - 1.67% Straight Line 60 – 130 years 

 
Capital dredging is not depreciated on the basis that maintenance dredging is performed whereby 
channels are returned to their original state.  Maintenance dredging is depreciated over five years. 
 

2.5 Goods and Services Tax 
 

All monetary amounts stated in the Financial Statements exclude GST with the exception of 
receivables and payables. The balance outstanding at balance date is included in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 
 

2.6 Income Tax 
 
Council 
 
The Council is not subject to income tax other than from income derived from its LATEs. 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
The income tax expense charged to the Statement of Financial Performance includes both the current 
year's provision and the income tax effects of timing differences calculated using the liability method. 
Tax effect accounting is applied on a comprehensive basis to all timing differences. A debit balance in 
the deferred tax account, arising from timing differences or income tax benefits from income tax 
losses, is only recognised if there is a virtual certainty of realisation. 
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2.7 Advances and Investments 
 

Advances and investments are stated at cost.   
 
2.8 Inventories 
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in first-out basis, and net realisable 
value. 

 
2.9 Employee Entitlements 
 

Council 
 
Annual leave has been calculated on an actual entitlement basis at current rates of pay while other 
provisions have been calculated on an actuarial basis at current rates of pay.  
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Provision is made in respect of the liability for annual leave and service pay.  
 

2.10 Sale of Sand 
 

Income from the sale of sand from capitalised dredging has been offset against the capital cost of 
dredging. 
 

2.11 Overhead Allocation 
 

Council 
 
Overheads are defined in 2001/2002 to include Corporate Services, Finance, Administration, direct 
salary/wage related overhead expenses and elements of the Chief Executive’s Department. These 
“overheads” were reallocated to the output activities of Council by means of an on-cost added to all 
staff salaries and wages charged to the output activities. The net effect on the Statement of Financial 
Performance is nil. 

 
2.12 Statement of Cash Flows 
 

The following are the definitions of the terms used in the Statement of Cash Flows:- 
 

- Cash is considered to be cash on hand and current accounts in banks, net of bank overdrafts. 
- Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of fixed 

assets and investments. Investments can include securities not falling within the definition of 
cash. 

- Financing activities are those activities which result in changes in the size and composition of 
the capital structure of the Group. This includes both equity and debt not falling within the 
definition of cash. Dividends paid in relation to the capital structure are included in financing 
activities. 

- Operating activities include all transactions and other events that are not investing or financing 
activities. 

 
2.13 Revenue Recognition – Council 
 

Government grants are recognised when the conditions associated with those grants have been 
fulfilled. Grant monies received are in the form of resource grants for the implementation of resource 
management projects, approved under the Resource Management Act. Rates revenue is recognised 
when the rate is struck by Council. 
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2.14 Receivables 
 

Receivables are valued at the expected realisable value after writing off amounts considered to be 
unrecoverable and making provision for doubtful debts. 

 
2.15 Financial Instruments 
 

The Statement of Financial Position includes all financial instrument arrangements using the concepts 
of accrual accounting.  Financial instruments covered within the financial statements include: cash and 
bank balances; accounts receivable and payable; cash investments, and equity investments. 
 
Revenue and expenses in relation to all financial instruments are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. 
 
The Group is party to financial instruments with off balance sheet risk to meet financing needs.  The 
financial instruments include bank overdraft facilities and interest rate swap agreements.  The Group 
enters into interest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on its 
commercial bill and commercial papers borrowings.  Any difference to be paid is accrued as interest 
rates change, and is recognised as a component of interest expense over the life of the agreement. 
 
 

2.16 Equity 
 

Equity is the community’s interest in the parent and group as measured by total assets less total 
liabilities. Public equity is disaggregated and classified into a number of reserves to enable clear 
identification of the specified uses that the Council and the group make of its accumulated surpluses. 
The components of equity are: 

 
Accumulated funds 
Restricted reserves – Trust and bequests; Sinking funds  
Council-created reserves – Disaster funds 
Asset revaluation reserve 

 
Reserves 
 
Reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of 
equity have been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by the Council. 
 
Restricted reserves are those reserves subject to specific conditions accepted as binding by the 
Council and which may not be revised by the Council without reference to the Courts or a third party. 
Transfers from these reserves may be made only for certain specified purposes or when certain 
specified conditions are met. 
 
Council-created reserves are reserves established by Council decision. The Council may alter them 
without reference to any third party of the Courts. Transfers to and from these reserves are at the 
discretion of the Council. 

 
2.17 Budget Figures – Council 
 

The budget figures are those approved by the Council at the beginning of the year after a period of 
consultation with the public as part of the Annual Plan process. The budget figures have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice and are consistent with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Council for the preparation of the financial statements. 
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3 Changes in Accounting Policies 
 

Council 
 
The Council and group has changed its accounting policy for the valuation of land and buildings in 
order to comply with FRS-3: Property, Plant and Equipment. This standard came into effect for periods 
ending on or after 31 March 2002. It requires assets to be revalued at fair value which has been 
determined by reference to their highest and best use. The previous policy had been to determine the 
fair value of those items by reference to their existing use. The revaluation movements have been 
accounted for in the revaluation reserve.  
 
There have been no other changes from the accounting policies adopted in the last audited financial 
statements. All policies, other than those noted above, have been applied on a basis consistent with 
the previous period. 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Depreciation on Fixed Assets: The Group and Parent has adopted this change in accounting policy 
after reviewing the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard No. 3 “Accounting for Property, Plant 
and Equipment”. Port of Tauranga Limited has broken down hardstanding into two components, 
basecourse and asphalt, and depreciates them over 50 and 15 years respectively. At the same time 
all asphalt overlays are capitalised and depreciated. This change in policy has resulted in depreciation 
increasing by $1,098,000 and operating costs reducing by $798,000. Following the review of assets 
useful lives the cranes lives were increased to 33 years. This reduced depreciation by $300,000. 

 
4 Total Expenditure 
 

In compliance with section 223(J) of the Local Government Act 1974, total expenditure includes the 
following:- 

 
 Council 

2002 
Council 

2001 
 ($000) ($000) 
Council:   
Insurance Premiums 117 103 
Ex-gratia payments to any person who suffers from any loss   

of/or damage to property when rendering assistance to, or   
performing any action under the control or authority of Council 0 0 

Ceremonies for the public or a section of public 0 0 
Purchase of insignia and robes of office and civic insignia of any kind 0 0 
Subscriptions and levies 51 48 
Unauthorised expenditure 8 4 
 
In terms of Financial Reporting Standard 9, expenditure is disclosed as follows: 

 
  Council 

2002 
($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Interest Expense 479 8,580 449 6,336 
Bad Debts Written Off 142 145 111 111 
Interest Income – Major Investment 2,913 4,578 3,551 4,259 
  – Other 209 386 187 324 
Audit Fees 56 163 55 120 
Fees Paid to Auditors for Other Services 15 214 1 63 
Operating Lease Payments 196 973 186 478 
Depreciation - Land 0 0 0 0 
 - Buildings 79 1944 70 1295 
 - Wharves and Hardstanding 0 3519 0 2408 
 - Harbour Improvements 0 340 0 100 
 - Plant & Equipment 1001 3952 1041 4046 
 - Works in Progress 0 0 0 0 
 - Infrastructural Assets 601 601 599 599 
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  Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
 - Goodwill Amortisation 0 268 0 0 
 - Maintenance Dredging Amortisation 0 270 0 253 
 - Rail Services Amortisation 0 1,500 0 525 
Total Depreciation and Amortisation 1,681 12,394 1,710 9,226 
(Gain)/loss on Sale of Assets (10) 485 (34) (1,655) 
Gain on Investments 0 62 0 847 
Dividends Received 8,391 31 3,360 0 
Maintenance Dredging 0 270 0 253 
Rail Services Amortisation  0 1,500  0 525 
 

There are no severance costs for the Council in excess of $50,000. 
 
5 Receivables 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Accounts Receivable 2,994 18,669 2,940 12,811 
Less Provision for Doubtful Debts 288 538 288 538 
 2,706 18,131 2,652 12,273 

 
6 Advances and Prepayments 
 

  Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Rail Services Agreement 0 1,500 0 1,500 
Prepayments and Sundry Debtors 46 1,318 13 206 
 46 2,818 13 1,706 

 
7 Inventories 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
At lower of cost and net realisable value 126 2,888 130 157 

 
8 Port of Tauranga Prepayments 
  

 Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Rail Services Agreement 3,975 5,475 
Advances to Associates 30 475 
Advances to Subsidiaries from Port of Tauranga Limited:   

Owens Services BOP Limited 8,005 0 
Port of Tauranga Services Company Limited 602 0 

 
The advances to Owens Services BOP Limited and Port of Tauranga Services Company Limited are 
repayable on demand. The advance to associate is repayable on demand. 
 
Port of Tauranga Limited has made a $7,500,000 prepayment to Tranz Rail for expanded services and 
obligations over a five year period relating to a seven day a week rail link to METROPORT Auckland. 
This amount is amortised on a straight line basis over five years. At balance date $5,475,000 was 
prepaid. Of this $1,500,000 is included in current assets. 
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9 Short Term Deposits 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Council:     
– General 50,437 50,437 53,936 53,936 
– Sinking Funds 954 954 669 669 
 51,391 51,391 54,605 54,605 

 
General funds were invested quarterly at market rates ranging from 4.89% to 5.91%.  Sinking funds 
are invested six monthly at a current rate of 6.20% 
 

10 Investments – Council 
 

Nine thousand (9,000) redeemable preference shares have been issued to the Bay of Plenty Regional 
Council from Quayside Holdings Limited at a nominal value of $1 and premium of $9,999 per share 
(817 of these shares have been called up). These shares may be called on at any time. These 
transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.  
 

  Council 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 
Redeemable Preference Shares 817 8,170 8,170 
Ordinary Shares 10,000 (Quayside Holdings Limited) 10 10 

 8,180 8,180 
 
11 Investments 
 

Council retains ownership in shares Horizon Energy Limited. A share split in June 2002 increased the 
number of shares from 904 (2001: 904) to 3,616. The market value as at 30 June 2002 was $3.35 per 
share (2001: $11.70). 
 

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Council      
Shares in Power Company 2 2 2 2 

 
Quayside Group     
NBNZ – Fund Management Agreement 0 455 0 0 
Cash 0 721 0 1,037 
Equities 0 31,121 0 22,541 
Property 0 0 0 736 
Call Account 0 30,119 0 0 
Port of Tauranga Limited (36,843,768 shares) 0 9,332 0 890 
 2 71,750 2 25,206 
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12 Fixed Assets 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
General Assets     
Land     
At cost 4 6,352 251 5,153 
At valuation 386 80,757 138 81,158 
Restricted at valuation* 1,031 1,031 1,031 1,031 
Lessees Interest 655 655 387 387 
Lessors Interest 1,935 1,935 1,028 1,028 
 4,011 90,730 2,835 88,757 
Buildings     
At cost 13 7,019 379 1,260 
At valuation 5,161 46,292 4,859 45,869 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1) (4,405) (140) (2,679) 
 5,173 48,906 5,098 44,450 
Wharves and Hard Standing     
At cost 0 3,957 0 2,386 
At valuation 0 107,672 0 107,672 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 0 (8,272) 0 (4,753) 
 0 103,357 0 105,305 
Harbour Improvements     
At cost 0 2,330 0 1,036 
At valuation 0 71,953 0 71,953 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 0 (500) 0 (160) 
 0 73,783 0 72,829 
Plant and Equipment     
At cost 10,043 97,062 8,806 67,073 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,396) (38,045) (5,635) (26,613) 
 3,647 59,017 3,171 40,460 
Works in Progress     
At cost 52 885 56 2,106 
     
Total General Assets 12,883 376,678 11,160 353,907 
     
Infrastructural Assets     
At valuation: – Structures 12,803 12,803 9,546 9,546 
  – Additions at Cost 0 0 62 62 
 12,803 12,803 9,608 9,608 
     
At valuation: – Stopbanks 73,059 73,059 63,864 63,864 
  – Additions at Cost 0 0 418 418 
   73,059 73,059 64,282 64,282 
     
At valuation: – Drainage 17,654 17,654 4,831 4,831 
  – Additions at Cost 0 0 0 0 
 17,654 17,654 4,831 4,831 
     
At valuation: – Other 10,717 10,717 8,454 8,454 
  – Additions at Cost 0 0 368 368 
 10,717 10,717 8,822 8,822 

     
Less: Accumulated depreciation 0 0 (1,195) (1,195) 

     
Total Infrastructural Assets 114,233 114,233 86,348 86,348 
    
Total Net Book Value 127,116 490,911 97,508 440,255 
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*Restricted land at valuation: reserve or flood prone land adjacent to stopbanks/flood protection areas 
not readily saleable or intended for sale. 

 
Council 
 
The Lessee’s Interest in land represents Council’s interest in the leasehold land occupied by the 
Headquarters Building, Quay Street, Whakatane and the Council’s interest in the adjacent leasehold 
land occupied by the Council’s previous Headquarters Building (ex Catchment Board) in Quay Street, 
Whakatane. Both properties are leased from Whakatane District Council for 14 years as from 8 
December 1992 with perpetual rights of renewal for terms of 14 years. The valuation was completed in 
June 2002 by Boyes Campbell & Associates, registered valuers of Whakatane. 
 
The Lessor’s Interest in land represents Council’s interest in three properties in Mirrilees Road West, 
Sulphur Point, Tauranga leased by Council to three commercial entities for terms of 20 years. The 
valuation was completed in June 2002 by Almao & Green Limited, registered valuers, Tauranga. The 
valuation of land and buildings is considered to be fair. 
 

13 Creditors and Accruals 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Distribution to Black Horse Finance 0 20 0 12 
Trade Creditors – Quayside Group 0 52 0 47 
  – Port of Tauranga Ltd 0 8,251 0 4,799 
Accruals – Port of Tauranga Ltd 0 1,900 0 862 
Employee Entitlements 745 4,317 710 1,973 
Accounts Payable 2,655 2,655 1,850 1,850 
Accruals 1,121 1,121 554 554 
Intercompany Payable 0 0 0 179 
 4,521 18,316 3,114 10,276 

 
14 Statement of Reserve Funds 
  

 Balance 
30/06/01 

($000) 

Transfers 
To 

($000) 

Transfers 
From 

($000) 

Balance 
30/06/02 

($000) 
Council created - General Reserve 
 - Other Reserves 
Environmental Enhancement Fund 

42,991 
6,899 

675 

0 
471 

1,180 

0 
54 

784 

42,991 
7,316 
1,071 

Asset revaluation - Land 653 1,037 0 1,690 
  - Buildings (224) 224 0 0 
  - Infrastructural Assets 7,608 27,014 0 34,622 
Restricted – Disaster 972 244 26 1,190 
  – Sinking Fund 670 538 253 955 
Sub Total 60,244 30,708 1,117 89,835 
Subsidiaries – Revaluation 90,841 0 354 90,487 
 151,085 30,708 1,471 180,322 

 
15 Term Loans 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Works Loans Liability 6,115 6,115 5,609 5,609 
General Loans Liability 577 577 577 577 
Port of Tauranga Limited  0 178,689 0 77,052 
 6,692 185,381 6,186 83,238 
Less Current Portion 130 130 95 95 
 6,562 185,251 6,091 83,143 
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Council 
 
Security consists of a rate, as provided for in the Rating Powers Act 1988, over all the rateable 
properties in the region, or in the relevant scheme rating area, as the case may be. 
 
Subsidiary 
 
Port of Tauranga Ltd has financing arrangements with Bank of New Zealand Limited, ANZ Banking 
Group (New Zealand) Limited and the National Bank of New Zealand Limited. The facility, which is 
unsecured, matures on 21 December 2004 and provides for both direct borrowings and support for 
issuance of commercial paper. 
 
Public Debt Repayment Terms – Maturity Analysis 
 

  
 Council 

2002 
($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

 ($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

 ($000) 
2002/2003 130 130 95 95 
2003/2004 105 186 130 182 
2004/2005 0 178,608 162 44,162 
2005/2006 0 0 0 33,000 
5-9 years 155 155 252 252 
10-14 years 1,501 1,501 711 711 
15-19 years 3,847 3,847 2,982 2,982 
20 years + 954 954 1,854 1,254 
 6,692 185,381 6,186 83,238 

 
Weighted average interest rate – Port of Tauranga Ltd 6.5% (2001), 6.96% (2000): Council 6.876% 
(2002), 6.88% (2001). There have been no changes made to the Borrowing Management Policy. 
 
Internal Loans 
 
Council also has the following loans that have been funded internally 

 
 Council 

2002 
($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

 ($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

 ($000) 
Kaituna River Scheme 40 40 0 0 
Waioeka-Otara Rivers Scheme 1,010 1,010 0 0 
Rangitaiki Drainage Scheme 13 13 0 0 
 1,063 1,063 0 0 

 
16 National Bank of NZ Limited 
 

The National Bank of NZ Limited has provided finance to the Quayside Group by purchasing 5,848 
Fixed Non-voting “B” units fully paid to $10,000 each in Quayside Securities Limited as trustee for the 
Quayside Unit Trust. During 1998 $5m was repaid leaving a balance of 5,348 units. Quayside 
Securities Limited has entered into a mortgage over shares held in Port of Tauranga Limited to secure 
payment to the mortgagee, Black Horse Finance, of all moneys from time to time payable by the 
mortgagor to the mortgagee. Quayside Holdings and Quayside Securities Limited have issued a 
debenture to Black Horse Finance Limited as security for the payment of all moneys payable by the 
companies to the debenture holder. As a form of additional indemnity for such moneys, Quayside 
Holdings Limited and Quayside Securities Limited, together with their parent, have entered into a 
subscription redemption and indemnity deed with Black Horse Finance Limited. 
 

Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
0 53,480 0 53,480 
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17 Provision for Taxation/Taxation 
 

  Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Net surplus/(deficit) before taxation 663 30,272 (87) 27,872 
Plus deficit from associates 0 (514) 0 (248) 
 663 29,758 (87) 27,624 
     
Tax thereon at 33% 219 9,820 (29) 9,116 
     
Plus/(less) taxation effect on permanent differences:     
Group loss offset 0 (259) 0 (62) 
Non-assessable income 0 (0) 0 (46) 
Prior period adjustment 0 (96) 0 0 
Gain (loss) on sale 0 (204) 0 (436) 
Gain on Investments 0 (20) 0 (279) 
Notional interest on Employee Share Scheme 0 (7) 0 (5) 
Non-deductible expenditure 2,550 2,612 1,137 1,156 
Revaluation depreciation 0 565 0 269 
Tax credit adjustment 0 (118) 0 (61) 
Interest distribution 0 793 0 968 
Imputation credit adjustment (2,769) 0 (1,108) 0 
 0 13,086 0 10,620 
     
The taxation charge is represented by:     
Tax payable in respect of current year 0 12,112 0 10,718 
Deferred taxation 0 974 0 (98) 
 0 13,086 0 10,620 

 
Tax losses available to Quayside Holdings Limited for carry forward total $0 (2001: $121,055) with a 
tax effect of $0 (2001: $40,245). 

 
Imputation Credit Account – Group 
 
Through Quayside Securities Limited as Trustee  
for the Quayside Unit Trust 
 

 2002 2001 
Opening Balance 514,029 590,208 
Imputation Credits attaching to:-   
Dividends Received 5,107,065 4,770,050 
Dividends Paid (5,338,793) (4,846,229) 
Closing Balance as at 30 June  282,301 514,029 
   
Directly in Quayside Holdings Ltd at 1 July    
Opening Balance 11,694,708 9,634,473 
Imputation Credits attaching to:-   
Dividends Received 4,487,236 3,723,107 
Dividends Paid (4,138,850) (1,662,872) 
Closing Balance 12,043,094 11,694,708 
   
Through 55.055% subsidiary Port of Tauranga Ltd at 30 June 2002   
(55.055% of $7,277,000)  4,006,352 2,120,272 
 $16,331,747 $14,329,009 

 
The imputation credit account is a memorandum account which records the ability of the company to 
pass on imputation credits to shareholders when dividends are paid. 
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18 Deferred Taxation 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Opening Balance 0 (3,552) 0 (3,671) 
Adjustment Prior Year 0 (204) 0 21 
Transfer to Consolidated Operating Statement 0 (974) 0 98 
 0 (4,730) 0 (3,552) 

 
19 Minority Interest 
 

This item is a snap shot of the minor shareholders share of 44.945% (2001: 44.928%) of the surplus of 
Port of Tauranga Ltd. 

  
 Consolidated 

2002 
($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Net tax paid profit of POTL 25,900 22,412 
Minority Shareholders Interest 44.945% (2001: 44.928%) 11,652 10,069 
 

20 Related Party Transactions 
 

Related parties are: 
 
Quayside Holdings Limited (100% owned by Council) 
 
Refer Note 10 for details.  Quayside Holdings Limited paid a dividend of $8,390,000 to The Bay of 
Plenty Regional Council. 
 
Quayside Securities Limited (100% owned by Quayside Holdings Limited) 
 
Quayside Securities owes Quayside Holdings $548,109 by way of an inter-company account. 
A total of $35,926 in interest was accrued to this account. 
 
Quayside Securities Limited as Trustee for the Unit Trust  
 
100% controlled by the Trustee Company – Quayside Securities Limited. 
Quayside Securities Limited as Trustee paid a distribution of $8,444,035 to Quayside Holdings 
Limited. 
As at 30 June 2002 a total of 7,525,000 “A” units had been issued. 
 
Port of Tauranga Limited (55.055% owned by the Trust). 
 
Port of Tauranga Limited paid dividends of $10,368,889 to Quayside Securities Limited as Trustee for 
the Quayside Unit Trust. In accordance with FRS-5 “Events After Balance Date” the dividend 
approved after balance date has not bee accrued. These dividends have been accounted for in the 
accounts of Quayside Securities Limited as Trustee for Quayside Unit Trust. 
 
Port of Tauranga Trustee Company Limited (100% owned by Port of Tauranga Limited) and  
Port of Tauranga Services Company Limited (100% owned by Port of Tauranga Limited). 
Port of Tauranga Services Limited owes Port of Tauranga Limited $602,000 (2001: $602,000). No 
debts were forgiven or written off during the year. 
 
During the year Port of Tauranga Limited has had the following transactions with related parties: 
Refit New Zealand Limited (associate) $160,000 (2001: $160,000) – rental charged at normal 
commercial rates.   
Owens Services BOP Limited $106,000 – vessel charges, rentals, fuel. 
The Cargo Company Limited $1,835,000  - purchase of building and plant and labour hire. 
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Tauranga Container Park Limited $145,000 – rental and electricity. 
Port Mechanical Services $347,000 – plant repairs. 
Northport Limited $76,000 – reimbursements. 
 
There were no other significant transactions or outstanding balances. No related party debts have 
been written off or forgiven during the period. 
 
Personnel 
 
The Chief Executive and three Councillors of The Bay of Plenty Regional Council are directors of 
Quayside Holdings Limited and Quayside Securities Limited; the Deputy Chairperson of The Bay of 
Plenty Regional Council is a director of Port of Tauranga Limited.  Councillors entered into no related 
party transactions with Council. 
 
E A Craig (Director of Quayside Holdings Limited) gave notice that he is a Director of Custodial 
Services Limited and will therefore be interested in any transactions between those entities and the 
company. 
 
B J Scantlebury (Director of Quayside Holdings Limited) gave general notice that he is a Director of 
Guideline Enterprises Ltd and associated companies and entities and will therefore be interested in all 
transactions between these entities and the company. 
 
M J Smith (Director of Quayside Holdings Limited) gave notice that he is a Director of Port of 
Tauranga Limited. 
 
Transactions between Custodial Services Limited and Quayside Holdings Limited amounted to 
$24,718 of which $6,348 was outstanding at 30 June 2002. 
 
Joint Venture 
 
On 28 July 2000 Directors of Port of Tauranga Limited signed a 50:50 joint venture agreement with 
Northland Port Corporation (NZ) Limited (NPC). The parties are constructing and establishing a deep 
water port at Marsden Point which loaded its first ship in June 2002. 
 
The joint venture company (Northport Limited) has been formed with a share capital of $30 million. 
The capital will be subscribed for by the parties on a 50:50 basis. 
 
Northport has purchased assets at valuation from NPC necessary to undertake the project. These 
assets comprise resource consents, approximately 15ha of land, some floating plant and navigational 
aids. 
 
Capital expenditure on the project, estimated at $65 million, is being undertaken by Northport. The 
balance of funding required by Northport will be by borrowing which will be guaranteed by the 
Northport parties severally. Debt finance will be used initially followed by partners equity contributions. 
 
At balance date Port of Tauranga had contributed $7,600,000. 
 
The Board of Northport consist of six Directors, three from NPC and three from Port of Tauranga. Port 
of Tauranga Directors are Fraser McKenzie, John Parker and Harold Titter. 
 
The Chairman has been appointed by NPC and the Chief Executive Officer is the Chief Executive of 
Port of Tauranga Limited, Jon Mayson. Both appointments are for a period of two years commencing 
on 1 July 2002. 
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21 Capital Commitments 
 
The following estimated capital expenditure was contracted for at 30 June 2002: 
 

 Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Council 0 219 
Port of Tauranga Limited 11,237 18,338 
 11,237 18,557 

 
There are no other capital commitments at 30 June 2002. 
 

22 Reconciliation of Cash Flows with Reported Operating Results for the Year 
Ended 30 June 2001 

 
 Council 

2002 
($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Operating surplus/(deficit) after taxation 663 16,984 (87) 17,252 
Minority Interest Port Group 0 11   
Add non-cash items:     
Depreciation and Amortisation 1,681 12,394 1,710 8,973 
Bad Debts Written Off 142 142 111 111 
Decrease in Deferred Taxation 0 854 0 (119) 
Surplus from Associates  0 (514) 0 (248) 
Interest receivable (151) (1,395) (112) (1,518) 
Increase in Asset Revaluation Reserve  545 545   
     
Add (less) movements in Working Capital items:   
Change in Accounts Receivable (55) (670) (522) 1,252 
Change in Inventory 3 (437) (23) (31) 
Change in Accounts Payable 1,741 3,751 93 611 
Change in Employee Entitlements 34 34 127 127 
Change in Prepayments 33 255 (43) 667 
Change in Provision for Tax 0 (472) 0 701 
     
Less items classified as investing:     
Loss/(Gain) on Disposal Fixed Assets (10) (629) (34) (1,655) 
Increase in Capital Creditors  (721) (722) 130 130 
Increase in Capital Debtors 184 184 46 46 
Net Cash Outflows from Operations 4,089 30,315 1,396 26,299 

 
23 Ratepayer’s Equity 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Opening Balance 94,805 117,958 96,656 111,581 
Less Minority Interest 0 (11,652) 0 (10,069) 
Net Change in Reserves (1,316) (1,316) (764) (764) 
Transfer to Asset Revaluation Reserve 0 326 0 (42) 
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) After Taxation 663 16,984 (87) 17,252 
Closing Balance 94,152 122,300 94,805 117,958 
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24 Contingent Liabilities – Consolidated 
 

Northport has borrowings of $36.5m for which Port of Tauranga Limited is severally liable for 50%. 
The Board of Directors believe this will not be called upon. 
 
As at 30 June 2002, the Council and subsidiary companies were not involved in any litigation as 
defendant, which would in any way affect the financial statements other than as noted below.  The 
Council is liable for the uncalled capital in its wholly owned subsidiary, Quayside Holdings Limited, of 
$81,829,918 being 8,183 Redeemable Preference Shares at $9,999.99 per share. 
 
A claim has been made against the Council for the sum of $54,000 alleging failure to prevent erosion 
of land from the Kaituna River flood protection scheme. At this stage of the proceedings the liability or 
settlement can not be estimated. Negotiations to settle are proceeding. 
 
A claim against Council (as second defendant) for the sum of $52,000 has been made, alleging failure 
to clean out a drain, which flooded, causing damage.  No estimate of settlement of liability can be 
made at this stage of the proceedings. The claim has been accepted by Council’s insurers and 
negotiations are proceeding. 

 
25 Remuneration of The Chief Executive – Council 
 

The Chief Executive of the Bay of Plenty Regional Council, appointed under section 119C(1)(a) of the 
Local Government Act 1974, now receives a totally cashed up remuneration of $212,696 and no 
longer enjoys full private use of a Council supplied vehicle or any other Council supplied benefits. The 
Council therefore pays no fringe benefit tax and the total cost of that remuneration to Council is 
$212,696 (2001 $188,000).   

 
26 Remuneration of Directors (Councillors) 
 

The fees paid to Directors (Councillors), including salaries and meeting allowances, during the 
financial reporting period amount to:  
 

Council 
2002 

Consolidated 
2002 

Council 
2001 

Consolidated 
2001 

496,784 861,403 434,872 761,372 
 
27 Employee Share Ownership Plan 
 

Port of Tauranga Limited has an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP), in terms of section DF7 of 
the Income Tax Act 1994.  At balance date the ESOP held 48,774 ordinary shares of $1 each in the 
Company (0.07% of Company's share capital). Of these, 44,137 were allocated to employees and 
have been paid up to $125,580 and $148,896 remains to be paid.  No shares are subject to options.  
The shares held by the ESOP carry the same voting rights as other issued ordinary shares. 

 
28 Financial Instruments 
 

Credit Risk 
 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Group to credit risk principally consist of bank 
balances, receivables, and interest rate swap agreements. The Group generally does not require 
collateral. The Group continuously monitors the credit quality of the financial institutions that are 
counter parties to its off balance sheet financial instruments and does not anticipate non performance 
by the counter parties. 

 
The maximum exposures as detailed in the Statement of Financial Position are net of any provision for 
losses on these financial instruments. Maximum exposure on interest rate swap agreements is limited 
to any net balance receivable which reflects the difference between the interest payable by the two 
parties to the agreement. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
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Interest Rate Risk  
 

Commercial Bills 
 

These bills are taken out on a floating rate basis.  As at 30 June 2002, the Group had interest rate 
swap agreements outstanding with the ANZ Banking Group (New Zealand) Limited and the Bank of 
New Zealand Limited. The total national principal amount was $107,000,000. The agreement 
effectively changes the Group's interest rate exposure on the floating rate to a series of fixed rates 
ranging from 5.65% to 7.60% per annum.   
 
Works and General Loans 

 
The weighted average interest rate on these loans is 6.876%.  The interest rates are fixed and are non 
reviewable. 

 
Bank Overdraft Facilities 

 
The interest rate on the bank overdraft is currently set at 7.95%. 

 
Short Term Deposits 

 
Refer Note 9. 
 
Fair Values 

 
The estimated fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are noted below: 
 
Council and Consolidated  
 

 2002 
Carrying Value 

2002 
Fair Value 

2001 
Carrying Value 

2001 
Fair Value 

 $ $ $ $ 
Assets     
Shares – Quayside Holdings Limited 8,180,000 126,814,796 8,180,000 122,173,973 
Shares – Power Company 2,169 12,114 2,169 10,577 
Investments Cash 720,549 718,159 1,036,883 1,040,927 
  Equities 31,125,116 29,411,154 22,541,339 23,483,566 
  Property 0 0 735,556 769,322 
  Call Account 30,119,399 30,119,399 0 0 
  Port of Tauranga Limited 9,787,207 9,787,207 415,000 415,000 
Interest Rate Swaps (55,000) (414,000) (24,000) (97,000) 
     
Liabilities     
Term Liabilities  (178,689,000) (178,689,000) (77,052,000) (77,052,000) 
Works and General Loans 7,625,000 7,625,000 (6,091,000) (6,091,000) 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial 
instrument. 
 
Cash, Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable, Short Term Debt – The carrying amount is the fair 
value for each of these classes of financial instrument. 
 
Investments – The fair value of listed investments is estimated based on the quoted market prices at 
balance date. As at 30 June 2002 Port of Tauranga Limited shares were trading on the New Zealand 
stock exchange at $7.25 per share (30 June 2001 $6.70 per share). The fair value of unlisted 
investments is their carrying value. 
 
Interest Rate Swaps – The fair value of these instruments is estimated based on the valuations 
provided by the Group’s bankers. The carrying value of interest rate swaps represents net interest 
accrued and is contained within Advances and Prepayments in the Statement of Financial Position. 
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Credit Facilities 
 

The Bay of Plenty Regional Council: 
The Council has an overdraft limit of $NIL (2001: $1,000,000) 

 
Port of Tauranga Limited: 
The Group has a total overdraft facility of $2,500,000 (2001: $500,000). 

 
Quayside Group: 
The Companies have an overdraft limit of $1,560,000 (2001: $1,560,000). 
 
Quayside Securities Limited and its parent Quayside Holdings Limited has issued a debenture to 
Black Horse Finance Limited, the total amount being $53,480,000 (2001 $53,480,000). 

 
29 Securities Given – Consolidated 
 

Quayside Securities Limited has entered into a mortgage over shares held in Port of Tauranga Limited 
to secure payment to the mortgagee, Black Horse Finance Limited, of all moneys from time to time 
payable by the mortgagor to the mortgagee. 
 
Quayside Holdings Limited and Quayside Securities Limited have issued a debenture to Black Horse 
Finance Limited as security for the payment of all moneys payable by the Companies to the debenture 
holder. As a form of additional indemnity for such moneys, Quayside Holdings Limited and Quayside 
Securities Limited, together with their parent, have entered into a subscription redemption and 
indemnity deed with Black Horse Finance Limited. 

 
30 Performance Targets – Quayside Group 
 

The Council’s objective, in establishing the Quayside Group, was to achieve optimal commercial 
performance from the region’s shareholding in Port of Tauranga Limited (POTL) while maximising the 
return of the ratepayers of the Bay of Plenty region. 
 
In the year to June 2002 POTL achieved significantly increased performance in terms of net profit after 
tax, earnings per share, dividend and share price. The Council’s budgeted requirement for investment 
income ($11,216,900) was comfortably achieved and, as planned, that sum was directly returned to all 
regional ratepayers through reduced general rates. 
 
The performance of Quayside Holdings Limited in undertaking its monitoring and advisory functions 
will be assessed with respect to: 
 
• The quality of financial and other analysis. 
• The robustness and accuracy of the information relied upon in providing advice. 
• The clarity, timeliness and materiality of advice. 
• Compliance with the shareholder’s expectation that there should be “no surprises” arising from the 

shareholding in Port of Tauranga Limited and other investments. 
• Compliance with the shareholder’s expectation for optimal commercial performance from the 

shareholding in Port of Tauranga Limited and other investments. 
 
With respect to the investments by Quayside Holdings Limited of any ‘surplus’ dividends paid by Port 
of Tauranga Limited, Quayside Holdings Limited’s performance will be assessed by reference to the 
criteria above as well as Quayside Holdings Limited’s estimate of the market value of the investments 
so made. 
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Achievements 
 
During the year Council has been fully informed by Quayside Holdings Limited as to the likely 
performance of the shareholding in Port of Tauranga Limited and other investments.  The performance 
has met Council’s expectations. 
 

31 Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments 
  

 Council 
2002 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2002 

($000) 

Council 
2001 

($000) 

Consolidated 
2001 

($000) 
Not later than one year 190 1,636 201 623 
One year to two years 187 1,295 201 542 
Two to five years 542 2,738 575 1,373 
Over five years 902 1,756 1,083 2,142 
  1,821 7,425 2,060 4,680 

 
32 Community Initiatives 
 

Council resolved in 1999 to establish as part of Community Initiatives, an Environmental Enhancement 
Fund to provide a contestable source of funding for environmental projects initiated by Bay of Plenty 
organisations other than Environment Bay of Plenty.  Its purpose is to assist regional organisations 
and community groups, including district councils, by providing financial support for activities and 
projects that would enhance the natural character of or public access to or public understanding of the 
Bay of Plenty’s coastal environment, wetlands, lakes or rivers and their margins, heritage features, 
outstanding landscapes, historical or archaeological sites, or the habitats of indigenous plants and 
animals. In the 2001/2002 year the funding was allocated on the basis of $750,000 to district councils 
and $500,000 to community organisations. For the year ended 30 June 2002, and utilising unallocated 
funds from 2000/2001, $1,330,497 had been allocated to 63 successful applicants, $489,640 having 
been distributed. 

 
33 Variations from Budget 
 

Explanations for major variations from the Council’s estimated figures in the 2001/2002 Annual Plan 
are as follows: 
 
Statement of Financial Position:  
 
Cash at Bank and Short Term Deposits are higher than budget due to delay in uptake of Community 
Initiatives (Environmental Enhancement Fund) funds. The value of Fixed Assets has increased 
following the revaluation of infrastructural assets and buildings. The move to implement internal 
borrowing arrangements has meant a decline on budget for cash assets and term loans. 
 
Statement of Financial Performance: 
 
A delay as to settlement of the Papamoa Hills Regional Park purchase is reflected in the 
underspending in Resource Policy; Property Works were underspent due to a slower than expected 
implementation of some Environmental Programmes; and Community Initiatives was underspent due 
to proved applications for funding not having yet been distributed. 
 

34 Events Subsequent to Balance Date - Group 
 

No significant events have occurred subsequent to balance date. 
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Equal Employment Opportunities Statement 
Environment Bay of Plenty has a principle of equal employment opportunity for all staff in regard to the 
elimination of any discrimination and the provision of equal opportunities as essential principles in the 
management of its staff resources. 
 
The Chief Executive is statutorily delegated the responsibility for this matter as the employer of all staff of 
Environment Bay of Plenty.  This programme has been continued for the 2001/2002 year by: 
 
 the appointment of an EEO Coordinator whose responsibility is to monitor on a day to day basis the EEO 

practises at all levels within the organisation and advise the Chief Executive on any issues which were 
either observed or raised by staff.  Her appointment was generally publicised, and her availability as a 
first point of contact to any staff member who had concerns was made well known.   

 
 the explanation of all job descriptions or advertisements for staff to ensure that none contained any 

sexist language or other constructions which would imply that there would be any preference to any 
existing or potential employee by reason of their race, colour, national or ethnic origin, age, sex, marital 
status, personal disability, sexual preference, or religious or political beliefs. 

 
 the maintenance by the Chief Executive of an Equal Employment Opportunities Committee, chaired by 

one of his second tier managers, to review the Equal Employment Opportunities Programme and 
recommend a more comprehensive programme. 

 
 the recording of no complaints from any staff members indicating that they did not have equal 

opportunities available to them in their employment including their recruitment, selection and 
appointment, education, training and development, career path planning, or promotion. 

 
 the approval of all applications for maternity, parental, or tangihanga leave. 

 
 


